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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
 
 
The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Asian Terminals, Inc. 
A. Bonifacio Drive 
Port Area, Manila 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Asian Terminals, Inc. and its 
Subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial 
position as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the consolidated statements of 
income, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of 
changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years 
in the period ended December 31, 2023, and notes, comprising material accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at  
December 31, 2023 and 2022, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended  
December 31, 2023, in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 
(PFRSs). 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audits of the consolidated financial statements in 
the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 



 

Key Audit Matter 
 
Key audit matter is a matter that, in our professional judgment, was of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. This matter 
was addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
this matter. 

 
Revenue Recognition (P15,451,800 - amount in thousands) 
Refer to Notes 2 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements. 

 
The risk 
The Group's revenues are mainly generated from arrastre, stevedoring, storage, 
and special and other services. Market expectations and profit-based targets 
may put pressure on management to recognize revenues before all the revenue 
recognition criteria have been met. Risk of material misstatement may arise in 
order to improve business results and achieve capital and revenue growths in 
line with the objectives of the Group. 
 
Our response 
Our audit procedures included assessment of the Group's accounting policies in 
respect of revenue recognition to ensure that they appropriately reflected the 
requirements of PFRSs. Evaluation of relevant IT systems and the design and 
operating effectiveness of controls over the recording of revenue transactions 
and generated reports was also conducted. In doing so, we have involved our IT 
specialists to assist in the audit of automated controls across different IT 
applications. Our substantive procedures included testing of revenues earned, to 
confirm that all services had been performed at the point at which revenue is 
recognized. Among others, we performed examination of selected individual 
transactions' supporting documentation to test the existence and accuracy of 
revenue transactions and to verify whether the revenue recognition practices 
adopted complied with the stated accounting policies. A detailed movement 
analysis of revenues earned for each of the Group's revenue streams was also 
performed to determine any significant fluctuation on the account. 

 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Form 20-IS 
(Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the year 
ended December 31, 2023, but does not include the consolidated financial statements 
and our auditors’ report thereon. The SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information 
Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2023 
are expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other 
information and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audits or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.  
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

When we read the other information mentioned above, if we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those 
charged with governance and determine whether the other information needs to be 
revised. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial 
reporting process. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
▪ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

 
▪ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 
▪ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

▪ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
▪ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

 
▪ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 

entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matter. We describe 
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is  
Vernilo G. Yu. 
 
 
R.G. MANABAT & CO. 
 
 
 
 
VERNILO G. YU 
Partner 
CPA License No. 1  
Tax Identification  
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001987-035-2021 
  Issued June 29, 2021; valid until June 28, 2024 
PTR No. MKT 10075209 
  Issued January 2, 2024 at Makati City 
 
 
March 12, 2024 
Makati City, Metro Manila 
 
 
 



 

 

ASIAN TERMINALS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(Amounts in Thousands) 

                  December 31 

 Note 2023 2022 
ASSETS    
Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 6, 24, 25 P5,424,938 P4,600,267 
Trade and other receivables - net 7, 20, 24, 25 830,653 905,985 
Spare parts and supplies 18 1,066,535 1,081,456 
Prepaid expenses 8 2,776,433 2,503,263 

Total Current Assets  10,098,559 9,090,971 
Noncurrent Assets    
Investment in an associate 9 65,436 55,282 
Property and equipment - net 10 2,511,749 2,566,211 
Intangible assets - net  11 21,595,130 21,080,924 
Right-of-use assets - net 23 726,211 775,248 
Deferred tax assets - net 13 1,002,295 975,876 
Other noncurrent assets 12 73,551 86,759 

Total Noncurrent Assets  25,974,372 25,540,300 
  P36,072,931 P34,631,271 

    
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    
Current Liabilities    
Trade and other payables 14, 20, 24, 25 P2,934,416 P3,292,607 
Provisions for claims 15 58,873 61,044 
Port concession rights payable - current 

portion 23, 24, 25 455,254 423,028 
Income and other taxes payable  100,052 210,629 
Lease liabilities - current portion 20, 23, 24 46,615 118,066 

Total Current Liabilities  3,595,210 4,105,374 
Noncurrent Liabilities    
Port concession rights payable - net of 

current portion 23, 24, 25 7,011,351 7,510,283 
Pension liability - net 21 236,779 207,409 
Lease liabilities - net of current portion 20, 23, 24 678,189 647,026 

Total Noncurrent Liabilities  7,926,319 8,364,718 
  11,521,529 12,470,092 
Equity    
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of 

the Parent Company    
Capital stock  2,000,000 2,000,000 
Additional paid-in capital  264,300 264,300 
Retained earnings  22,276,607 19,887,619 
Fair value reserve  (5,820) (5,820) 
 16, 24 24,535,087 22,146,099 
Non-controlling Interest  16,315 15,080 
Total Equity  24,551,402 22,161,179 
  P36,072,931 P34,631,271 
 
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 



 

 

 

ASIAN TERMINALS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Per Share Data) 

 Years Ended December 31 

 Note 2023 2022 2021 
REVENUES FROM 

OPERATIONS 26 P15,451,800 P13,622,704 P11,162,744 
GOVERNMENT SHARE IN 

REVENUES 17 (2,669,519) (2,468,762) (1,947,677) 
  12,782,281 11,153,942 9,215,067 

COSTS AND EXPENSES 
EXCLUDING 
GOVERNMENT SHARE 
IN REVENUES 18, 20, 21 (6,628,665) (6,176,412) (5,426,240) 

OTHER INCOME AND 
EXPENSES     

Finance income  189,142 45,496 5,758 
Finance cost  (503,531) (505,572) (504,068) 
Others - net  40,328 (529,694) (254,907) 
 19 (274,061) (989,770) (753,217) 

CONSTRUCTION REVENUES 11 1,920,973 1,928,019 546,474 
CONSTRUCTION COSTS 11 (1,920,973) (1,928,019) (546,474) 
  -     -     -     

INCOME BEFORE INCOME 
TAX  5,879,555 3,987,760 3,035,610 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE  13 1,441,737 959,604 797,881 
NET INCOME  P4,437,818 P3,028,156 P2,237,729 

Income Attributable to     
Equity holders of the Parent 

Company  P4,435,986 P3,024,811 P2,236,720 
Non-controlling interest  1,832 3,345 1,009 
  P4,437,818 P3,028,156 P2,237,729 

Basic/Diluted Earnings per 
Share Attributable to Equity 
Holders of the Parent 
Company 22 P2.22 P1.51 P1.12 

     
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

ASIAN TERMINALS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(Amounts in Thousands) 

 Years Ended December 31 

 Note 2023 2022 2021 
NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR  P4,437,818 P3,028,156 P2,237,729 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME (LOSS)     
Item that will never be 

reclassified to profit or loss     
Actuarial gains (losses) on 

pension liability 21 (62,687) 14,663 (7,127) 
Tax on item taken directly to 

equity 13 15,672 (3,666) 1,782 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE 
YEAR - Net of tax  (47,015) 10,997 (5,345) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME  P4,390,803 P3,039,153 P2,232,384 

Total Comprehensive Income 
Attributable to     

Equity holders of the Parent 
Company  P4,388,988 P3,035,751 P2,231,320 

Non-controlling interest  1,815 3,402 1,064 
  P4,390,803 P3,039,153 P2,232,384 

     
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.   

 
 



 

 

ASIAN TERMINALS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Per Share Data) 

  Years Ended December 31 

  Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent Company  

        Retained Earnings     

 Note Capital Stock 

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital 

Appropriated 
for Port 

Development Unappropriated 
Fair Value 

Reserve Total 

Non-
controlling 

Interest Total Equity 

Balance at January 1, 2023  P2,000,000 P264,300 P16,400,000 P3,487,619 (P5,820) P22,146,099 P15,080 P22,161,179 
Cash dividends - P1.00 a share 16 -     -     -     (2,000,000) -     (2,000,000) (580) (2,000,580) 
Reversal of appropriation of retained 

earnings 16 -     -     (2,400,000) 2,400,000 -     -     -     -     
Appropriations during the year 16 -     -     5,000,000 (5,000,000) -     -     -     -     
Net income for the year  -     -     -     4,435,986 -     4,435,986 1,832 4,437,818 
Other comprehensive income:          

Actuarial loss - net of tax 21 -     -     -     (46,998) -     (46,998) (17) (47,015) 
Balance at December 31, 2023  P2,000,000 P264,300 P19,000,000 P3,276,607 (P5,820) P24,535,087 P16,315 P24,551,402 

Balance at January 1, 2022  P2,000,000 P264,300 P15,100,000 P3,367,868 (P5,820) P20,726,348 P12,258 P20,738,606 
Cash dividends - P0.808 a share 16 -     -     -     (1,616,000) -     (1,616,000) (580) (1,616,580) 
Reversal of appropriation of retained 

earnings 16 -     -     (2,000,000) 2,000,000 -     -     -     -     
Appropriations during the year 16 -     -     3,300,000 (3,300,000) -     -     -     -     
Net income for the year  -     -     -     3,024,811 -     3,024,811 3,345 3,028,156 
Other comprehensive income:          

Actuarial gain - net of tax 21 -     -     -     10,940 -     10,940 57 10,997 
Balance at December 31, 2022  P2,000,000 P264,300 P16,400,000 P3,487,619 (P5,820) P22,146,099 P15,080 P22,161,179 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

  Years Ended December 31 

  Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent Company  
        Retained Earnings     

 Note Capital Stock 

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital 

Appropriated 
for Port 

Development Unappropriated 
Fair Value 

Reserve Total 

Non-
controlling 

Interest Total Equity 

Balance at January 1, 2021  P2,000,000 P264,300 P14,000,000 P3,642,548 (P5,820) P19,901,028 P11,774 P19,912,802 
Cash dividends - P0.703 a share 16 -     -     -     (1,406,000) -     (1,406,000) (580) (1,406,580) 
Reversal of appropriation of retained 

earnings 16 -     -     (2,500,000) 2,500,000 -     -     -     -     
Appropriations during the year 16 -     -     3,600,000 (3,600,000) -     -     -     -     
Net income for the year  -     -     -     2,236,720 -     2,236,720 1,009 2,237,729 
Other comprehensive income:          

Actuarial loss - net of tax 21 -     -     -     (5,400) -     (5,400) 55 (5,345) 
Balance at December 31, 2021  P2,000,000 P264,300 P15,100,000 P3,367,868 (P5,820) P20,726,348 P12,258 P20,738,606 

 

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 
 
 



 

 

ASIAN TERMINALS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(Amounts in Thousands) 

  Years Ended December 31 

 Note 2023 2022 2021 
CASH FLOWS FROM 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Income before income tax  P5,879,555 P3,987,760 P3,035,610 
Adjustments for:     

Depreciation and 
amortization 10, 11, 18, 23 1,989,066 1,908,756 1,849,725 

Finance cost 19, 21, 23 503,531 505,572 504,068 
Current service cost 21 39,193 45,664 40,639 
Provision (reversal of 

provision) for spare parts 
and supplies obsolescence 18 10,000 -     (5,035) 

Provision for claims 15 48 832 7,172 
Finance income 19 (189,142) (45,496) (5,758) 
Net unrealized foreign 

exchange losses (gains)  (102,127) 411,159 255,570 
Equity in net earnings of an 

associate 9, 19 (38,812) (32,374) (44,782) 
Gain on disposals of:     

Property and equipment 19 (5,359) (728) (302) 
Intangible assets 19 -     (5,688) (930) 

Operating income before 
working capital changes  8,085,953 6,775,457 5,635,977 

Decrease (increase) in:     
Trade and other receivables  74,256 (96,756) (184,621) 
Spare parts and supplies  4,921 (145,978) (40,154) 
Prepaid expenses  (273,170) (354,254) (417,692) 

Increase (decrease) in:     
Trade and other payables  (310,979) 827,752 234,196 
Provisions for claims  (2,219) (3,004) (1,980) 
Income and other taxes 

payable  (118,513) 6,376 (33,407) 
Cash generated from 

operations  7,460,249 7,009,593 5,192,319 
Finance income received  190,218 45,496 6,117 
Income tax paid  (1,444,548) (1,066,262) (861,915) 
Contributions to retirement 

funds 21 (84,505) (74,978) -     
Finance cost paid  (54,208) (27,013) (7,818) 
Net cash provided by operating 

activities  6,067,206 5,886,836 4,328,703 
Forward     

 

 
 
 
 



 

 

 Years Ended December 31 

 Note 2023 2022 2021 
CASH FLOWS FROM 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
Acquisitions of:     

Intangible assets 11 (P1,939,908) (P1,986,879) (P1,730,573) 
Property and equipment 10 (262,665) (829,665) (897,080) 

Proceeds from disposals of:     
Intangible assets  -     6,260 930 
Property and equipment  97,935 1,760 302 

Dividends received 9, 20 28,658 35,465 31,524 
Decrease (increase) in:     

Other noncurrent assets  -     26,083 13,189 
Deposits  13,208 (10,805) 58,649 

Net cash used in investing 
activities  (2,062,772) (2,757,781) (2,523,059) 

CASH FLOWS FROM 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES     

Payments of:     
Cash dividends 16 (2,000,000) (1,616,000) (1,406,000) 
Cash dividends to  

non-controlling interest  (580) (580) (580) 
Port concession rights 

payable 23 (972,915) (799,238) (792,135) 
Lease liabilities 23 (192,288) (223,176) (204,810) 

Net cash used in financing 
activities  (3,165,783) (2,638,994) (2,403,525) 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) 
IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS  838,651 490,061 (597,881) 

EFFECT OF FOREIGN 
EXCHANGE RATE 
CHANGES ON CASH AND 
CASH EQUIVALENTS  (13,980) 156,040 114,173 

CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS  
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 6 4,600,267 3,954,166 4,437,874 

CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS  
AT END OF YEAR 6 P5,424,938 P4,600,267 P3,954,166 

 
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.   

 



 

 

ASIAN TERMINALS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Per Share Data) 

 
 
 
1. Reporting Entity 

 
Asian Terminals, Inc. (ATI or the “Parent Company”) was incorporated in the 
Philippines and registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission 
(SEC) on July 9, 1986. The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial 
statements of the Parent Company and its Subsidiaries, ATI Batangas, Inc. (ATIB) 
and Tanza Container Terminal, Inc. (TCTI), (collectively referred to as the “Group”). 
The Parent Company is a public company under Section 17.2 of the Securities 
Regulation Code and its shares are listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. 
(PSE). DP World Australia (POAL) Pty. Ltd. directly owns 17.32% of the total 
outstanding capital stock of ATI.  
 
The Group operates and manages the South Harbor Port of Manila and the Port of 
Batangas in Batangas City. The registered office address of the Parent Company is 
at A. Bonifacio Drive, Port Area, Manila. 
 
 

2. Operating Contracts 
 
Following are the Group’s operating contracts: 
 
a. South Harbor, Port of Manila 

 
ATI’s exclusive right to manage, operate and develop South Harbor was 
renewed for a period of 25 years from May 19, 2013 to May 18, 2038 pursuant to 
the Third Supplement to the Contract for Cargo Handling and Related Services 
(the “Third Supplement”) with the Philippine Ports Authority (PPA) dated  
October 19, 2007 (see Note 23). 

 
b. Port of Batangas 

 
On January 18, 2010, the PPA issued to ATI the Notice to Award the Contract for 
the Management, Operation, Maintenance, Development and Promotion of the 
Container Terminal “A-1,” Phase II of the Port of Batangas for a period of  
25 years. The Contract was signed on March 25, 2010. The Notice to Proceed 
dated June 16, 2010 allowed ATI to start and commence operations at the 
Terminal on July 1, 2010. 
 
On October 2, 2015, ATI and ATIB signed a Contract with PPA for the 
Management, Operation, Maintenance and Development of Phase I, Port of 
Batangas with a term from October 1, 2015 until September 30, 2025. 
 
In December 2019, ATI and ATIB signed a Contract with PPA for the extension 
of the term from 2025 to 2035 (see Note 23). 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

- 2 - 

3. Basis of Preparation 
 
Statement of Compliance 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs). PFRSs are based on 
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB). PFRSs which are issued by the Philippine Financial and 
Sustainability Reporting Standards Council (FSRSC), consist of PFRSs, Philippine 
Accounting Standards (PASs), and Philippine Interpretations. 
 
The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of 
Directors (BOD) on February 22, 2024. 
 
Basis of Measurement 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a 
historical cost basis except for the following items, which are measured on an 
alternative basis on each reporting date: 
 
Items Measurement Bases 
Equity investments at Fair Value 

through Other Comprehensive 
Income (FVOCI) 

Fair value 

Pension liability The present value of the defined benefit 
obligation less the fair value of plan 
assets. 

 
Functional and Presentation Currency 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is the 
Group’s functional currency. All amounts have been rounded off to the nearest 
thousand pesos (P000), except when otherwise indicated. 
 
Basis of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of ATI, 
ATIB, TCTI and the Group’s interest in an associate accounted for under the equity 
method of accounting. ATIB is a 99.17% owned subsidiary as at December 31, 2023 
and 2022. TCTI was incorporated on January 18, 2018, and a 100% owned 
subsidiary as at December 31, 2023 and 2022.  
 
The financial statements of ATIB and TCTI are prepared for the same financial 
reporting year as ATI, using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and 
other events in similar circumstances. 
 
All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full. 
 
TCTI is fully consolidated from the date of incorporation. ATIB is fully consolidated 
from the date of acquisition, being the date when ATI obtained control, and continues 
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 
 
Non-controlling interest represents the portion of profit and loss and net assets in 
ATIB not held by ATI and are presented separately in the consolidated statements of 
income, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements 
of changes in equity, and within equity in the consolidated statements of financial 
position. 
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4. Summary of Material Accounting Policies 
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years 
presented in these consolidated financial statements, except if mentioned otherwise. 
 
Adoption of Amendments to Standards  
The Group has adopted the following amendments to standards starting  
January 1, 2023 and accordingly, changed its accounting policies. Except as 
otherwise indicated, the adoption did not have any significant impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
▪ Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to PAS 8, Accounting Policies, 

Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors). To clarify the distinction between 
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates, the 
amendments introduce a new definition for accounting estimates, clarifying that 
they are monetary amounts in the financial statements that are subject to 
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify the relationship between 
accounting policies and accounting estimates by specifying that an accounting 
estimate is developed to achieve the objective set out by an accounting policy. 
Developing an accounting estimate includes both selecting a measurement 
technique and choosing the inputs to be used when applying the chosen 
measurement technique. The effects of changes in such inputs or measurement 
techniques are changes in accounting estimates. The definition of accounting 
policies remains unchanged. The amendments also provide examples on the 
application of the new definition. 
 
The amendments will apply prospectively to changes in accounting estimates 
and changes in accounting policies occurring on or after the beginning of the first 
annual reporting period in which the amendments are applied. 
 

▪ Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of 
Financial Statements and PFRS Practice Statement 2, Making Materiality 
Judgements). The amendments are intended to help companies provide useful 
accounting policy disclosures. The key amendments to PAS 1 include:  
 
• requiring companies to disclose their material accounting policies rather than 

their significant accounting policies;  
• clarifying that accounting policies related to immaterial transactions, other 

events or conditions are themselves immaterial and as such need not be 
disclosed; and  

• clarifying that not all accounting policies that relate to material transactions, 
other events or conditions are themselves material to a company’s financial 
statements.  

 
The amendments to PFRS Practice Statement 2 includes guidance and 
additional examples on the application of materiality to accounting policy 
disclosures, assisting companies to provide useful, entity-specific accounting 
policy information that users need to understand other information in the financial 
statements. 
 
The Group reviewed the accounting policies. The amendments did not result in 
any changes to the accounting policies. However, updates were made to the 
accounting policy information disclosed in Note 4 Material Accounting Policies 
section in certain instances in line with the amendments. 
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▪ Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction 
(Amendments to PAS 12, Income Taxes). The amendments clarify that the initial 
recognition exemption does not apply to transactions that give rise to equal 
taxable and deductible temporary differences such as leases and 
decommissioning obligations. 
 
For leases and decommissioning liabilities, the associated deferred tax assets 
and liabilities will be recognized from the beginning of the earliest comparative 
period presented, with any cumulative effect recognized as an adjustment to 
retained earnings or other appropriate component of equity at that date. For all 
other transactions, the amendments apply to transactions that occur after the 
beginning of the earliest period presented. 

 
Amendments to Standards Issued but Not Yet Adopted 
A number of amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning 
after January 1, 2023. However, the Group has not early adopted the following 
amended standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Unless 
otherwise stated, none of these are expected to have a significant impact on the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
 
Effective January 1, 2024 
 
▪ Classification of Liabilities as Current or Noncurrent - 2020 amendments and 

Noncurrent Liabilities with Covenants - 2022 amendments (Amendments to  
PAS 1). To promote consistency in application and clarify the requirements on 
determining whether a liability is current or noncurrent, the amendments: 
 
• removed the requirement for a right to defer settlement of a liability for at 

least twelve months after the reporting period to be unconditional and instead 
requires that the right must have substance and exist at the end of the 
reporting period; 

 
• clarified that only covenants with which a company must comply on or before 

the reporting date affect the classification of a liability as current or non-
current and covenants with which the entity must comply after the reporting 
date do not affect a liability’s classification at that date; 

 
• provided additional disclosure requirements for non-current liabilities subject 

to conditions within twelve months after the reporting period to enable the 
assessment of the risk that the liability could become repayable within twelve 
months; and 

 
• clarified that settlement of a liability includes transferring an entity’s own 

equity instruments to the counterparty, but conversion options that are 
classified as equity do not affect classification of the liability as current or 
noncurrent. 

 
The amendments will apply retrospectively for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2024, with earlier application permitted. Entities 
that have early applied the 2020 amendments may retain application until the 
2022 amendments are applied. Entities that will early apply the 2020 
amendments after issue of the 2022 amendments must apply both amendments 
at the same time. 
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Financial Instruments  
Non-derivative Financial Instruments. Non-derivative financial instruments consist of 
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, deposits, equity securities, 
trade and other payables (except for statutory payables), port concession rights 
payable and lease liabilities. 
 
Recognition and Initial Measurement. Trade receivables and debt securities issued 
are initially recognized when they are originated. All other financial assets and 
financial liabilities are initially recognized when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing 
component) or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not 
at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant 
financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 
 
Financial Assets 
The Group’s financial assets at amortized cost include cash and cash equivalents, 
trade and other receivables, and deposits. 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method if 
it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 
 
▪ It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect 

contractual cash flows; and 
 
▪ Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign 
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain 
or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks which are stated at face value. Cash 
equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less from dates of 
acquisition and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group 
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in 
OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. The accumulated 
fair value reserves are never reclassified to profit or loss. Dividends are recognized 
as income in profit or loss unless it clearly represents a recovery of the cost of 
investment. 
 
Included in this category is the Group’s equity instruments (included under other 
noncurrent assets).  
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Business Model Assessment. The Group makes an assessment of the objective of 
the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level because this 
best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to 
management. The information considered includes: 
 
a. the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those 

policies in practice. These include whether management’s strategy focuses on 
earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, 
matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of any related 
liabilities or expected cash outflows or realizing cash flows through the sale of 
the assets;  

 
b. how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s 

management;  
 
c. the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial 

assets held within that business model) and how those risks are managed;  
 
d. how managers of the business are compensated - e.g., whether compensation is 

based on the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows 
collected; and  

 
e. the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the 

reasons for such sales and expectations about future sales activity. 
 
Solely Payments of Principal and Interest Assessment. Principal is defined as the fair 
value of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration 
for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal 
amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending 
risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and 
interest, the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes 
assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change 
the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this 
condition. In making this assessment, the Group considers:  
 
▪ contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows; 
 
▪ terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate 

features; 
 
▪ prepayment and extension features; and 
 
▪ terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets  

(e.g. non-recourse features). 
 
Financial Liabilities  
Classification, Subsequent Measurement and Gains and Losses. Financial liabilities 
are classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is 
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is 
designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured 
at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are 
recognized in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign 
exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on 
derecognition is also recognized in profit or loss. 
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Included under other financial liabilities are the Group’s trade and other payables 
(except for due to government agencies) port concession rights payable and lease 
liabilities. 
 
Impairment of Financial Assets  
PFRS 9, Financial Instruments replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in PAS 39, 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement with an ‘expected credit loss’ 
(ECL) model. The new impairment model applies to financial assets measured at 
amortized cost, contract assets and debt investments at FVOCI, but not to 
investments in equity instruments. Under PFRS 9, credit losses are recognized 
earlier than under PAS 39.  
 
ECL is the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the 
financial instrument, representing the present value of expected cash shortfalls. The 
Group applies either a 12-month ECL or a lifetime ECL. Lifetime ECL applies to the 
financial assets that have experienced a significant increase in credit risk or are 
already credit-impaired. The Group’s approach to ECL measurement is described in 
Note 24.  
 
The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis 
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase 
in credit risk the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at 
the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It 
considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information. 
Especially the following indicators are incorporated: 
 
▪ Internal credit rating; 
 
▪ External credit rating (as far as available); 
 
▪ Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or 

economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant change to the 
debtor’s ability to meet its obligations; 

 
▪ Actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the debtor; 
 
▪ Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same 

debtor; and 
 
▪ Significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the debtor, 

including changes in the payment status of debtor and changes in the operating 
results of the debtor. 

 
Regardless of the analysis above, a significant risk in credit risk is presumed if a 
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a contractual payment. 
A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make contractual 
payments within 75 days of when they fall due. A financial asset is credit-impaired 
when an event that has a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows have 
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following 
observable data: 
 
▪ significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
 
▪ a breach of contract such as default or being more than 75 days past due; 
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▪ the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group 
would not consider otherwise; 

 
▪ it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or either financial 

reorganization; or 
 
▪ the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial 

difficulties. 
 
Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 
The Group categorizes a loan or receivable for write off when a debtor fails to make 
payments or when it is no longer probable that the receivable will be collected. 
Where loans or receivables have been written off, the Group continues to engage in 
enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are 
made, these are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in 
the consolidated statements of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently 
enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
 
This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the related 
assets and liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated statements of financial 
position. 
 
Derecognition of Financial Instruments 
Financial Assets. A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or 
a part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognized when: 
 
▪ the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
 
▪ the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has 

assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party 
under a “pass-through” arrangement; or 

 
▪ the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and 

either: (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or 
(b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

 
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has 
entered into a ‘pass-through’ arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the 
asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in 
the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the 
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the 
asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to 
pay. 
 
Financial Liabilities. A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the 
liability is discharged, cancelled or has expired. 
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When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Determination of Fair Values 
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the 
determination of fair value, for both financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities. 
Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes, 
when necessary, based on the market values, being the estimated amount for which 
assets could be exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and 
a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the 
parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. When 
applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair 
values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 
 
The different levels of fair value of financial instruments carried at fair value, by 
valuation method have been defined as follows:  
 
▪ Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities; 
 
▪ Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and 

 
▪ Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 

data (unobservable inputs). 
 
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability might be 
categorized in different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value 
measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level of the fair value 
hierarchy as the lowest input that is significant to the entire measurement. 
 
Fair values of the financial instruments are discussed in Note 25 to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
Spare Parts and Supplies 
Spare parts and supplies are stated at the lower of cost and current replacement 
cost. Cost is determined using the weighted average method and includes all 
expenditures incurred in acquiring and bringing them to their existing location and 
condition.  
 
Investment in Subsidiaries 
A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when 
it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The 
financial statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which 
control ceases. 
 
Non-controlling Interest 
NCI is measured at its proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at 
the acquisition date. Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result 
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. 
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Loss of Control 
When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets and 
liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any 
resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the 
former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost. 
 
Investment in an Associate 
The Group’s 35.71% investment in its associate, South Cotabato Integrated Port 
Services, Inc. (SCIPSI), is accounted for under the equity method of accounting. An 
associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence but not control or 
joint control, over the financial and operating policies.  
 
Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is initially recognized at 
cost and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize the Group’s 
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate after the 
date of acquisition. The Group’s share in the profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income of the associate is recognized in the Group’s consolidated statements of 
income. Dividends received from the associate reduce the carrying amount of the 
investment. Adjustment to the carrying amount, may also be necessary for changes 
in the Group’s proportionate interest in the associate arising from changes in the 
associate’s other comprehensive income. 
 
Goodwill relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment 
and is not amortized.  
 
The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period 
as the Group. The accounting policies of the associate conform to those used by the 
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. 
 
Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
amortization and any accumulated impairment. Such cost includes the cost of 
replacing part of such property and equipment at the time that cost is incurred, if the 
recognition criteria are met, and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing. 
 
The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its construction cost or 
purchase price, including import duties, taxes and any directly attributable costs in 
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Cost also 
includes interest incurred during the construction period on funds borrowed to 
finance the construction of the projects. Expenditures incurred after the asset has 
been put into operation, such as repairs, maintenance and overhaul costs, are 
normally recognized as expense in the period the costs are incurred. Major repairs 
are capitalized as part of property and equipment only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the items will flow to the Group and the cost of the 
items can be measured reliably. 
 
Port facilities and equipment include spare parts that the Group expects to use for 
more than one year. These are not depreciated until ready for its intended use. 
However, these are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the spare parts may not be 
recoverable. 
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Construction in progress represents structures under construction and is stated at 
cost. This includes the costs of construction and other direct costs. Borrowing costs 
that are directly attributable to the construction of property and equipment are 
capitalized during the construction period. Construction in progress is not 
depreciated until such time that the relevant assets are substantially completed and 
ready for its intended use. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the 
straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives of the assets: 
 

 Number of Years 
Port facilities and equipment 2 - 25 years or life of the operating 

contract, whichever is shorter 
Leasehold improvements 2 - 40 years or term of the lease, 

whichever is shorter 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 2 - 5 years 
Transportation and other equipment 2 - 5 years 

 
The remaining useful lives, residual values, depreciation and amortization method 
are reviewed and adjusted periodically, if appropriate, to ensure that such periods 
and method of depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected 
pattern of economic benefits from the items of property and equipment. 
 
The carrying amounts of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be 
recoverable. 
 
Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use 
and no further depreciation and amortization are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
An item of property and equipment is derecognized when either it has been disposed 
of or when it is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on the retirement and 
disposal of an item of property and equipment (calculated as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit 
or loss in the period of retirement or disposal. 
 
Intangible Assets 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. 
 
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. 
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized using the straight-line method over 
the period covered by the contract or useful life, whichever is shorter. The 
amortization period and the amortization method are reviewed annually. Changes in 
the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The 
amortization expense is recognized in profit or loss in the expense category 
consistent with the function of the intangible asset. Gains or losses arising from 
derecognition of an intangible asset are recognized in profit or loss and measured as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset. 
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Port Concession Rights 
The Group recognizes port concession rights as intangible assets arising from a 
service concession arrangements in which the grantor controls or regulates the 
services provided and the prices charged, and also controls any significant residual 
interests in the infrastructure at the end of the term of the arrangement, such as 
property and equipment, if the infrastructure is existing infrastructure of the grantor or 
the infrastructure is constructed or purchased by the Group as part of the service 
concession arrangements. 
 
Port concession rights consist of: 
 
a. Upfront fees payments on the concession contracts; 
 
b. The cost of port infrastructures constructed and port equipment purchased, 

which are not recognized as property and equipment of the Group but as 
intangible asset received as consideration for such cost; and 

 
c. Future fixed government share considerations in exchange for license or right. 

Fixed government share is recognized at present value using the discount rate at 
the inception date with a corresponding liability recognized. Interest on the 
unwinding of discount of the liability and foreign exchange differences arising 
from translations are recognized in profit or loss. 

 
Port concession rights are determined as intangible assets with finite useful lives and 
are amortized using the straight-line method over the concession period or useful 
life, whichever is shorter. The amortization period and the amortization method are 
reviewed annually. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of 
consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are treated as 
changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense is recognized in profit or 
loss in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset. 
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are recognized in 
profit or loss and measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset. 
 
Port concession rights are amortized using the straight-line method over the term of 
contract asset or useful life ranging from 2 to 25 years whichever is shorter. 
 
Goodwill 
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the 
excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net 
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Following initial 
recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired. 
 
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the investment to 
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying 
amount of the investment, an impairment loss is recognized. An impairment loss in 
respect of goodwill is not reversed. Where part of the operation within the investment 
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in 
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal 
of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the 
relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating 
unit retained. 
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Impairment of Non-financial Assets  
The carrying amounts of investment in an associate, property and equipment, 
intangible assets other than goodwill and right-of-use assets are reviewed for 
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists, and if the carrying 
amount exceeds the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating 
units are written down to their recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount of the 
asset is the greater of fair value less costs to sell or value in use. The fair value less 
costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s-length 
transaction less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized in profit or loss 
in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset. 
 
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication 
that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A 
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset 
is increased to its recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and 
amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. 
Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss. After such reversal, the depreciation and 
amortization charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised 
carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining 
useful life. 
 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has: (a) a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of past event; (b) it is probable (i.e., more likely than not) 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation; and (c) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and those risks 
specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due 
to the passage of time is recognized as interest expense. Where some or all of the 
expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another 
party, the reimbursement shall be recognized when, and only when, it is virtually 
certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The 
reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognized for the 
reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision. Provisions are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
 
Share Capital  
Capital Stock 
Capital stock is classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issue of common shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax 
effects.  
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Additional Paid-in Capital 
The amount of contribution in excess of par value is accounted for as “Additional  
paid-in capital.” Any transaction costs associated with the issuance of shares are 
deducted from additional paid-in capital, net of any related income tax benefit. 
 
Retained Earnings and Dividend Distribution 
Retained earnings include current and prior years’ results, net of dividends declared,  
if any, and other capital adjustments. 
 
Dividend distribution to the Group’s shareholders is recognized as a liability, and 
deducted from equity in the Group’s consolidated statements of financial position in 
the period in which the dividends are approved and declared by the Group’s BOD. 
 
Retained earnings may also include prior year adjustments and the effect of changes 
in accounting policies as may be required by the standards’ transitional provisions. 
 
Revenue, Cost and Expense Recognition 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
The Group recognizes revenue when it transfers control over a service to a 
customer. Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract 
and PPA Tariff regulations, which are all fixed amounts, for each type of services 
rendered net of variable consideration, if any. The PPA established all relevant port 
regulations, basic port services and service level requirements, liability on cargo, 
security, and safety. The Group’s revenue is well defined in PPA Operations 
Memorandum Circular No. 02-2018 and revised schedule of Cargo Handling Tariff 
implemented on June 5, 2018. 
 
The following is a description of principal activities from which the Group generates 
its revenue. Revenue is disaggregated by the following service lines: 
 
▪ Stevedoring 

The Group generates stevedoring revenue from all works performed on board 
vessel. The activity includes movement of cargoes from ship-to-shore,  
shore-to-ship lifting for inbound and outbound and transshipment including the 
related stevedoring transportation and liftings from shore to yard and yard to 
shore. The activity generally finishes in a short period of time (i.e. 24 to 48 hours 
from the time ship arrives at the port). The Group recognizes revenue at a point 
in time upon completion of service and the average credit term is 15 to 30 days. 

 
▪ Arrastre 

The Group generates arrastre revenue from portside cargo handling operations. 
The activity includes receiving, handling, custody, security and delivery of cargo 
passing over piers, quays, warehouses and open storages within the 
jurisdictional area of responsibility of the Group. The Group recognizes revenue 
upon completion of service (i.e at a point in time). The customer pays arrastre 
charges before the release of cargoes.  

 
▪ Logistics 

Logistics operation includes trucking and handlings services. The Group 
recognizes revenue upon completion of service (i.e at a point in time) and the 
average credit term is 15 to 30 days.  
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▪ Special and Others Services 
Special and other services include storage, reefer monitoring, container freight 
servicing, and equipment or manpower rental. Majority of these service lines 
pertains to storage revenues. Storage revenues are charges from the use of 
warehouses and/or open storages within the jurisdictional area of responsibility 
of the Group beyond the free storage period. Customers are billed upon 
withdrawal of cargoes from the terminal (for Import) or upon loading of cargoes to 
vessel (for export). The Group recognizes revenues over a period of time 
(number of days the container stayed in the jurisdictional area) and the average 
credit term is15 to 30 days.  
 

Other Income 
Other income is recognized at the point in time when the service has been rendered. 
 
Finance Income 
Finance income is recognized on a time proportion basis that reflects the effective 
yield on the investment. 
 
Construction Revenues and Costs 
The Group recognizes revenue related to construction and upgrade of services 
under service concession arrangement in accordance with PFRS 15, Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers. When the construction or upgrade services are provided 
or delivered under concession arrangement accounted within the scope of Philippine 
Interpretation IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements the consideration is 
measured at the estimated selling price of the construction services provided. No 
margin has been recognized since the estimated selling price of the consideration 
services provided approximates the construction costs. The nature of the 
consideration determines the subsequent accounting. The consideration is classified 
as a contract asset under Intangible assets during the construction or upgrade period 
in accordance with PFRS 15. 
 
Cost and Expense Recognition  
Costs and expenses are recognized upon receipt of goods, utilization of services or 
at the date they are incurred. 
 
Borrowing Costs 
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection 
with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs are capitalized if they are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of a qualifying asset. The capitalization 
of borrowing costs: (a) commences when the activities to prepare the assets are in 
progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred; (b) is suspended 
during extended periods in which active development, improvement and construction 
of the assets are interrupted; and (c) ceases when substantially all the activities 
necessary to prepare the assets are complete. These costs are amortized using the 
straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the related property, plant and 
equipment to which it is capitalized. 
 
Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which 
these are incurred using the effective interest method. 
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Leases 
At the inception of the contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or 
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right 
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of 
an identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in PFRS 16, Leases.  
 
Group as Lessee 
At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, 
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the 
basis of its relative stand-alone price.  
 
However, for leases of property the Group has elected not to separate non-lease 
components and account for the lease and associated non-lease components as a 
single lease component. 
 
The Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease 
commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and 
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the 
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 
 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method 
from the commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease 
transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term 
or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase 
option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of 
the underlying asset. which is determined on the same basis as those of property 
and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by 
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease 
liability.  
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments 
that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, and the Group's 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate 
as the discount rate. 
 
The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from 
various external financial sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms 
of the lease and type of the asset leased. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the 
following: 
 
▪ fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 
 
▪ variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured 

using the index or rate as at the commencement date; 
 
▪ amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 
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▪ the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain 
to exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is 
reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early 
termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate 
early. 

 
The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using effective interest method. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change 
in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount 
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Group’s changes 
its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option 
or if there is a revised in substance fixed lease payment. 
 
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is 
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss 
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 
 
The Group has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for 
leases of short-term leases and low-value assets, if any. The Group recognizes the 
lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. 
 
The Group has classified: 
 
▪ cash payments for the principal portion of lease payments as financing activities; 
▪ cash payments for the interest portion as operating activities consistent with the 

presentation of interest payments chosen by the Group; and 
▪ short-term lease and payments for leases of low value assets as operating 

activities. 
 
Employee Benefits 
a. Short-term Employee Benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A 
liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a 
present, legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past 
service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

 
b. Pensions 

ATI and ATIB have funded, defined benefit pension plans, administered by a 
common pension trustee, covering their permanent employees. The cost of 
providing benefits under the defined benefit pension plans is determined 
separately for each plan using the projected unit credit method. 
 
The defined benefit pension asset or liability comprises the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation less the fair value of plan assets out of which the 
obligation is to be settled directly. The value of any plan asset recognized is 
restricted to the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of 
refunds from the plan or reductions in the future contributions to the plan. 
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Remeasurements of the net defined benefit pension liability, which comprise 
actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the 
effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognized immediately 
in other comprehensive income. The Group determines the net interest expense 
(income) on the net defined benefit pension liability (asset) for the period by 
applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the 
beginning of the annual period to the then net defined benefit pension liability 
(asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined pension liability 
(asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net 
interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit pension plans are 
recognized in profit or loss. 
 
When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting 
change in benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is 
recognized immediately in profit or loss. The Group recognizes gains and losses 
on the settlement of a defined benefit pension plan when the settlement occurs. 

 
Foreign Currency Transactions 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is the 
Group’s functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the 
functional currency at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are 
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. All 
differences are taken to the profit or loss. Foreign currency gains and losses are 
reported on a net basis. 
 
Taxes 
Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that 
it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other 
comprehensive income. 
 
Current Tax. Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable 
income or loss for the year, using tax rates (tax laws) enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of previous years. 
 
Deferred Tax. Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are 
recognized for all taxable temporary differences. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences can be utilized. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are not provided on non-taxable temporary difference 
associated with investment in associate. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized 
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered. 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax 
rates (tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.  
 
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account 
the impact of uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may 
be due. The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all 
open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretation of 
tax laws and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions 
and may involve a series of judgments about future events. New information may 
become available that causes the Group to change its judgment regarding the 
adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax 
expense in the period that such a determination is made. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred 
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
 
Value Added Tax (VAT). Revenue, expenses and assets are recognized net of the 
amount of VAT, except: 
 
▪ where the VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable 

from the tax authority, in which case the sales tax is recognized as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and 

 
▪ receivables and payables that are stated with amount of VAT included.  
 
The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included 
as part of receivables or payables in the consolidated statements of financial 
position. 
 
Earnings Per Share (EPS) 
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the net income for the year by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the year after giving 
retroactive effect to any stock dividends declared during the year. 
 
The Group does not have potential common shares or other instruments that may 
entitle the holder to common shares.  Hence, diluted EPS is the same as basic EPS. 
 
Operating Segments 
The Group’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately according 
to the lines of business: port and non-port, with each segment representing a 
strategic business unit that serves different markets. The BOD reviews segment 
reports on a regular basis. 
 
The Group has a single reportable operating segment, as its business has been 
mainly on port operations and the non-port operation is insignificant to the Group’s 
total business.  
 
The Group operates only in the Philippines which is treated as a single geographical 
segment. 
 
Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire 
property and equipment and intangible assets other than goodwill. 
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Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 
They are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements unless the 
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefit is remote. 
Contingent assets are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but 
disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
 
Events After the Reporting Date 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s 
consolidated financial position at the reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in 
the consolidated financial statements. Post year-end events that are not adjusting 
events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when 
material. 
 
 

5. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions 
 
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
PFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of accounting policies and amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses reported in the consolidated financial statements at the reporting date. 
However, uncertainty about these judgments, estimates and assumptions could 
result in an outcome that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount 
of the affected asset or liability in the future. 
 
Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions are recognized in the 
period in which the judgments and estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected. 
 
Judgments 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made 
the following judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements: 
 
Functional Currency. Based on the economic substance of the underlying 
circumstances relevant to the Group, the functional currency of the Parent Company 
and its subsidiaries has been determined to be the Philippine peso. It is the currency 
that mainly influences the price and cost of providing services. 
 
Service Concession Arrangements. The Group has determined that the operating 
contracts are within the scope of IFRIC 12, accounted for under the intangible asset 
model.  
 
The intangible assets pertaining to concession rights as at December 31, 2023 and 
2022 are presented in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements. 
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Port Concession Rights and Port Concession Rights Payable. Estimates and 
assumptions are required on the determination of the cost of port concession rights 
on service concession arrangements to determine the extent to which the Group 
receives a right or license to charge users of public service. Port concession rights 
includes future fixed government share considerations in exchange for license or 
right. Fixed government share is recognized at present value using the discount rate 
at the inception date with a corresponding liability (port concession rights payable) 
recognized. In making those estimates, the management is required to determine a 
suitable discount rate to calculate the present value of port concessions rights and 
port concession rights payable. The Group believes that, while the assumptions used 
are reasonable and appropriate, these estimates and assumptions can materially 
affect the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Estimates and Assumptions 
The key estimates and assumptions used in the consolidated financial statements 
are based upon management’s evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as of 
the date of the consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from 
such estimates. 
 
Provisions for Claims. The Group records provisions for claims for property, 
equipment and cargo damage and for pending civil and labor cases when it is 
determined that an unfavorable outcome is probable and the amount of the claim can 
be reasonably estimated. The determination of the amount of reserves required, if 
any, is based on management’s analysis of each individual issue, often with 
assistance of outside legal counsel.  
 
Provisions for claims amounted to P58.9 million and P61.0 million as at  
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Note 15). 
 
Lease Extension Option. Some property leases contain extension options 
exercisable by the Group before the end of the non-cancellable contract period. The 
Group assesses at lease commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to 
exercise the extension options. The Group reassess whether it is reasonably certain 
to exercise the options if there is a significant event or significant changes in 
circumstances within its control. 
 
Lease liabilities on property leases on which extension options were exercised 
amounted to P48.7 million and P31.8 million as at December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
 
 

6. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
 Note 2023 2022 
Cash on hand and in banks  P520,599 P624,833 
Short-term investments  4,904,339 3,975,434 
 24, 25 P5,424,938 P4,600,267 
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Cash in banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 
Majority of short-term investments are on 90-day term subject to roll-over 
requirements of the Group and earn interest at the prevailing short-term deposit rates 
amounting to P189.1 million, P45.5 million and P5.8 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively (see Note 19). 
 
 

7. Trade and Other Receivables 
 
 Note 2023 2022 
Trade receivables  P609,257 P736,984 
Due from related parties 20 107,024 19,731 
Receivable from insurance  52,757 56,621 
Advances to officers and employees  22,786 28,020 
Interest receivable  11,131 12,207 
Receivable from escrow fund  -     13,635 
Other receivables   31,893 42,982 
  834,848 910,180 
Allowance for impairment losses  (4,195) (4,195) 
 24, 25 P830,653 P905,985 

 
Trade and other receivables are noninterest-bearing and generally have credit term 
of thirty (30) days. 
 
There was no movement in allowance for impairment losses on trade and other 
receivables in 2023 and 2022 (see Note 24).  
 
 

8. Prepaid Expenses 
 
 2023 2022 
Taxes P2,729,206 P2,467,343 
Insurance 11,025 9,217 
Rental 3,927 3,927 
Advances to contractors 2,520 2,035 
Advances to government agencies 101 101 
Others 29,654 20,640 
 P2,776,433 P2,503,263 

 
Taxes pertain to the Group’s input VAT credits, net of output VAT. 
 
Rentals pertain to prepayments on short-term leases entered during the period. The 
Group has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for these 
leases. 
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9. Investment in an Associate 
 
ATI has a 35.71% interest in SCIPSI, which is engaged in arrastre, stevedoring and 
other related cargo handling services, except porterage, in Makar Wharf, General 
Santos City, Philippines. SCIPSI is not listed in any public exchange. The carrying 
amount of investment in an associate as at December 31 follows:  
 
 Note 2023 2022 
Acquisition cost  P11,222 P11,222 
Accumulated equity in net earnings:    

Balance at beginning of year  44,060 47,151 
Equity in net earnings for the year 19 38,812 32,374 
Dividends received during the year  (28,658) (35,465) 

  54,214 44,060 

  P65,436 P55,282 
 
The information presented in the table includes the result of SCIPSI’s operations for 
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. The following table also reconciles 
the summarized financial information to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest 
in SCIPSI. 
 
 2023 2022 
Current assets P165,483 P125,617 
Noncurrent assets 49,226 48,607 
Total assets P214,709 P174,224 

Current liabilities P44,448 P35,860 
Noncurrent liabilities 1,636 1,432 
Total liabilities P46,084 P37,292 

Net assets  P168,625 P136,932 

Share in net assets P60,216 P48,898 
Excess of cost over the interest 5,220 6,384 
Carrying amount of interest P65,436 P55,282 

Revenues P297,047 P283,941 
Expenses (188,360) (193,283) 
Net income P108,687 P90,658 
Based on unaudited financial statements 
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10. Property and Equipment - net 
 
The movements in this account are as follows: 
 
2023 

 

Port  
Facilities and 

Equipment 
Leasehold 

Improvements 

Furniture, 
Fixtures and 

Equipment 

Transportation 
and Other 

Equipment 
Construction 

in-progress Total 

Cost       
Balance at beginning of year P225,268 P707,135 P935,940 P330,305 P1,960,215 P4,158,863 
Additions 1,343 84,200 50,799 64,445 77,959 278,746 
Disposals -     (91,253) (6,259) (21,628) -     (119,140) 
Reclassifications -     1,782,665 24,914 45,715 (1,853,294) -     

Balance at end of year 226,611 2,482,747 1,005,394 418,837 184,880 4,318,469 

Accumulated Depreciation       
Balance at beginning of year 131,137 527,318 713,372 220,825 -     1,592,652 
Depreciation 13,440 92,311 87,770 47,111 -     240,632 
Disposals -     -     (6,259) (20,305) -     (26,564) 

Balance at end of year 144,577 619,629 794,883 247,631 -     1,806,720 

Carrying Amount P82,034 P1,863,118 P210,511 P171,206 P184,880 P2,511,749 

 
2022 

 

Port  
Facilities and 

Equipment 
Leasehold 

Improvements 

Furniture, 
Fixtures and 

Equipment 

Transportation 
and Other 

Equipment 
Construction 

in-progress Total 

Cost       
Balance at beginning of year P222,486 P693,409 P815,515 P294,272 P1,282,616 P3,308,298 
Additions 2,778 11,576 60,702 44,951 734,005 854,012 
Disposals -     -     (4,346) (7,968) -     (12,314) 
Reclassifications 4 2,150 64,069 (950) (56,406) 8,867 

Balance at end of year 225,268 707,135 935,940 330,305 1,960,215 4,158,863 

Accumulated Depreciation       
Balance at beginning of year 116,192 485,195 632,073 184,124 -     1,417,584 
Depreciation 14,945 42,123 85,181 44,101 -     186,350 
Disposals -     -     (3,882) (7,400) -     (11,282) 

Balance at end of year 131,137 527,318 713,372 220,825 -     1,592,652 

Carrying Amount P94,131 P179,817 P222,568 P109,480 P1,960,215 P2,566,211 

 
No borrowing costs were capitalized in 2023 and 2022. 
 
The Group has non-cash additions for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2022 which amounted to P16.1 million and P24.3 million, respectively.  
 
Depreciation is charged under “Depreciation and amortization” account included in 
“Costs and expenses excluding government share in revenues” in the consolidated 
statements of income (see Note 18). 
 
Cost of fully depreciated property and equipment which are still being used by the 
Group amounted to P712.0 million and P620.8 million as at December 31, 2023 and 
2022, respectively.  
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11. Intangible Assets - net 
 
The movements in this account are as follows: 
 
2023 

 Port Concession Rights   

 
Upfront Fees 

(Note 23) 

Fixed 
Government 

Share 
Port 

Infrastructure Subtotal Goodwill Total 

Cost       
Balance at beginning 

of year P882,000 P9,279,694 P25,508,613 P35,670,307 P42,060 P35,712,367 
Additions -     -     2,061,603 2,061,603 -     2,061,603 
Disposals -     -     (15,653) (15,653) -     (15,653) 

Balance at end of year 882,000 P9,279,694 27,554,563 37,716,257 42,060 37,758,317 

Accumulated 
Amortization       

Balance at beginning 
of year 108,494 4,628,828 9,894,121 14,631,443 -     14,631,443 

Amortization 11,280 478,406 1,057,711 1,547,397 -     1,547,397 
Disposals -     -     (15,653) (15,653) -     (15,653) 

Balance at end of year 119,774 5,107,234 10,936,179 16,163,187 -     16,163,187 

Carrying Amount P762,226 P4,172,460 P16,618,384 P21,553,070 P42,060 P21,595,130 

 
2022 

 Port Concession Rights   

 
Upfront Fees 

(Note 23) 

Fixed 
Government 

Share 
Port 

Infrastructure Subtotal Goodwill Total 
Cost       
Balance at beginning 

of year P882,000 P9,279,694 P23,934,464 P34,096,158 P42,060 P34,138,218 
Additions -     -     2,041,736 2,041,736 -     2,041,736 
Reclassifications -     -     (8,747) (8,747) -     (8,747) 
Disposals -     -     (458,840) (458,840) -     (458,840) 
Balance at end of year 882,000 9,279,694 25,508,613 35,670,307 42,060 35,712,367 

Accumulated 
Amortization       

Balance at beginning 
of year 97,214 4,332,562 9,156,911 13,586,687 -     13,586,687 

Amortization 11,280 296,266 1,195,478 1,503,024 -     1,503,024 
Disposals -     -     (458,268) (458,268) -     (458,268) 
Balance at end of year 108,494 4,628,828 9,894,121 14,631,443 -     14,631,443 

Carrying Amount P773,506 P4,650,866 P15,614,492 P21,038,864 P42,060 P21,080,924 

 
The unamortized capitalized borrowing costs as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 
amounted to P50.0 million and P54.7 million, respectively. No borrowing costs were 
capitalized in 2023 and 2022. 
 
Amortization is charged under “Depreciation and amortization” account included in 
“Costs and expenses excluding government share in revenues” in the consolidated 
statements of income (see Note 18). 
 
The Group has non-cash additions for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2022 which amounted to P121.7 million and P54.9 million, respectively.  
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Contract asset under Port Infrastructure represents ongoing construction of port 
facilities and eventual putting into service in accordance with the Investment Plan. 
The movements in contract asset are as follows: 
 
  2023 2022 
Balance at beginning of year  P2,734,320 P1,840,748 
Additions during the year  1,920,973 1,928,019 
Reclassification during the year  (1,306,974) (1,034,447)  
Balance at end of year  P3,348,319 P2,734,320 

 
Goodwill 
Key Assumptions  
In testing impairment of goodwill, the recoverable amount of ATIB is the value in use, 
which has been determined by calculating the present value of cash flow projections 
from the operations of ATIB. The average revenue growth rate assumption used was 
5.0%. The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 9.0% in 2023 and 9.4% in 
2022 based on the industry’s weighted average cost of capital (WACC).   
 
Sensitivity to Changes in Assumptions 
The estimated recoverable amount of ATIB exceeds its carrying amount by 
approximately P3.0 billion and P1.8 billion in 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
Management has identified that earnings before interest and tax and discount rates 
are the key assumptions for which there could be a reasonably possible change that 
could cause the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount. 
 
 

12. Other Noncurrent Assets 
 
 Note 2023 2022 
Deposits 24, 25 P70,899 P84,107 
Equity securities 24, 25 2,652 2,652 
  P73,551 P86,759 

 
Deposits mainly represent payments related to refundable security deposits on 
property leases and utilities. This account includes noninterest-bearing refundable 
security deposits on a lease agreement that was carried at fair value as of initial 
recognition determined based on the present value of future cash flows discounted 
using effective interest rate of 5.8% in 2023 and 6.0% in 2022. The carrying amounts 
of these refundable security deposits at amortized cost amounted to P15.0 million 
and P14.8 million as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.   
 
Equity securities consist of investments in quoted and unquoted shares. 
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13. Income Tax 
 
On March 26, 2021, the President of the Philippines has approved the Corporate 
Recovery and Tax Incentives for Enterprises or the CREATE Act, with nine (9) 
provisions vetoed by the President. Effective July 1, 2020, the Group, being qualified 
as large corporation, has its corporate income tax lowered from 30% to 25%. 
 
The components of taxes are as follows: 
 
 2023 2022 2021 
Current tax P1,452,484 P1,137,822 P808,801 
Deferred tax (10,747) (178,218) (63,404) 
Changes in tax rate:    

Current tax -     -     (91,883) 
Deferred tax -     -     144,367 

 P1,441,737 P959,604 P797,881 
 
A reconciliation between the statutory tax rate and the effective tax rate on income 
before income tax follows: 
 
 2023 2022 2021 
Statutory income tax rate 25.00% 25.0% 25.0% 
Changes in income tax rate 

resulting from:    
Income subjected to final tax (0.80) (0.23) (0.28) 
Change in income tax rate -     -     1.73 
Others 0.32 (0.71) (0.17) 

Effective income tax rate 24.52% 24.06% 26.28% 
 
The movements in deferred tax balances are as follows:  
 

  Net Recognized  December 31 

  Balance at in Profit Recognized Deferred Deferred  
2023 Note January 1 or Loss in OCI Tax Assets Tax Liabilities Net 

Port concession rights 
payable related to fixed 
government share  P453,586 P7,044 P   -     P460,630 P   -     P460,630 

Unrealized foreign 
exchange loss - net  384,736 13,478 -     398,214 -     398,214 

Pension liability 21 60,868 (2,412) 15,672 74,128 -     74,128 
Accrued expenses  46,716 (8,602) -     38,114 -     38,114 
Excess of cost over net 

realizable value of spare 
parts and supplies  19,807 2,500 -     22,307 -     22,307 

Provisions for claims  15,260 (543) -     14,717 -     14,717 
Right-of-use and lease 

liability  6,828 (2,028) -     4,800 -     4,800 
Impairment losses on 

receivables  2,254 -     -     2,254 -     2,254 
Unamortized capitalized 

borrowing costs and 
custom duties  (14,179) 1,310 -     -     (12,869) (12,869) 

Net tax assets (liabilities)  P975,876 P10,747 P15,672 P1,015,164 (P12,869) P1,002,295 
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  Net Recognized  December 31 
  Balance at in Profit Recognized Deferred Deferred  
2022 Note January 1 or Loss in OCI Tax Assets Tax Liabilities Net 

Port concession rights 
payable related to fixed 
government share  P439,655 P13,931 P   -     P453,586 P   -     P453,586 

Unrealized foreign 
exchange loss - net  253,403 131,333 -     384,736 -     384,736 

Pension liability 21 64,591 (57) (3,666) 60,868 -     60,868 
Accrued expenses  19,274 27,442 -     46,716 -     46,716 
Excess of cost over net 

realizable value of 
spare parts and 
supplies  21,432 (1,625) -     19,807 -     19,807 

Provisions for claims  15,803 (543) -     15,260 -     15,260 
Right-of-use and lease 

liability  402 6,426 -     6,828 -     6,828 
Impairment losses on 

receivables  2,254 -     -     2,254 -     2,254 
Unamortized capitalized 

borrowing costs and 
custom duties  (15,490) 1,311 -     -     (14,179) (14,179) 

Net tax assets (liabilities)  P801,324 P178,218 (P3,666) P990,055 (P14,179) P975,876 

 
Deferred tax assets have been recognized because management believes that the 
Group will earn sufficient future taxable profits against which it can utilize the benefits 
therefrom. 
 
 

14. Trade and Other Payables 
 
 Note 2023 2022 
Accrued expenses:    

Marketing, commercial, promotion and 
business development  P529,847 P643,570 

Finance costs  129,096 136,918 
Repairs and maintenance  86,296 77,183 
Personnel costs  85,815 91,070 
Insurance  58,460 51,758 
Professional fees  49,405 48,459 
Security expenses  38,677 28,281 
Trucking expense  24,600 27,176 
Rentals 23 21,651 21,760 
Corporate social responsibility  14,156 23,156 
Utilities   14,090 13,444 
Safety and environment   3,799 4,015 
Miscellaneous accrued expenses  120,681 105,659 

Due to government agencies 23 967,569 939,016 
Equipment acquisitions  255,405 339,503 
Trade  244,925 442,235 
Shippers’ and brokers’ deposits  97,555 116,545 
Management fee payable 20 17,266 19,215 
Other payables  20 175,123 163,644 
 24, 25 P2,934,416 P3,292,607 

 
Following are the terms and conditions of the above liabilities: 
 
▪ Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30 to  

60-day terms. 
 
▪ Accrued finance costs are normally settled quarterly and semi-annually 

throughout the financial year. 
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▪ Other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled within twelve 
months from inception date. This account includes dividends and other non-trade 
payables. 

 
Rentals pertain to short-term leases entered during the period.  
 
 

15. Provisions for Claims 
 
The movements and balances of this account are as follows: 
 
 Note 2023 2022 
Balance at beginning of year  P61,044 P63,216 
Provisions during the year 18 48 832 
Payments during the year  (2,219) (3,004) 
Balance at end of year  P58,873 P61,044 

 
Provisions relate to property and equipment, and cargo damage and other claims. It 
is expected that most of these provisions will be settled within the next financial year 
or on demand. 
 
 

16. Equity 
 
Pursuant to the registration statement rendered effective by the SEC and permit to 
sell issued by the SEC both dated April 7, 1995, 1 billion common shares of the 
Parent Company were registered and may be offered for sale at an offer price of 
P5.10 per common share. On March 26, 1999, another registration statement was 
rendered effective by the SEC and permit to sell issued by the SEC for 1 billion 
common shares of the Parent Company and may be offered for sale at an offer price 
of P1.00 per common share. As at December 31, 2023, the Parent Company has a 
total of 2 billion issued and outstanding common shares and 821 stockholders. 
 
Capital Stock - P1 Par Value 
The Parent Company has 2.0 billion issued and fully paid capital stock, from its  
6.0 billion authorized common shares, as at December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
 
Retained Earnings 
The Group’s unappropriated retained earnings includes the subsidiaries' 
unappropriated net earnings of P11.9 million and P17.6 million and the Group’s 
accumulated equity in the net earnings of an associate amounting to P54.2 million 
and P44.1 million as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which are 
available for distribution only upon declaration of dividends by such subsidiaries to 
the Parent Company and the associate to the Group. Cash dividends are distributed 
yearly since 2000. 
 
Cash Dividends 
On April 27, 2023, the BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends of P1.00 per 
share payable on June 20, 2023 to common shareholders of record as at  
May 26, 2023. 
 
On April 28, 2022, the BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends of P0.808 
per share payable on June 17, 2022 to common shareholders of record as at  
May 25, 2022. 
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On April 22, 2021, the BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends amounting to 
P1,406.0 million or P0.703 per share payable on June 10, 2021 to common 
shareholders of record as at May 17, 2021. 
 
Appropriation and Reversal of Appropriation of Retained Earnings 
On December 29, 2023, the Group’s BOD approved the reversal of the appropriated 
retained earnings amounting to P2.4 billion out of the already approved appropriation 
of P16.4 billion, for capital expenditures for 2023 and 2022. Furthermore, the Group’s 
BOD approved an appropriation of the retained earnings amounting to P5.0 billion for 
capital expenditures for the next 5 years. The Group’s BOD also approved on the 
same date a budget amounting to P16.0 billion for capital expenditures which include 
yard and berth development as well as construction of new facilities and equipment 
acquisition for 2024 to 2028. The capital expenditures will strengthen the Group’s 
operations and capability to handle growth. 
 
On December 29, 2022, the Group’s BOD approved the reversal of the appropriated 
retained earnings amounting to P2.0 billion out of the already approved appropriation 
of P15.1 billion, for capital expenditures for 2022 and 2021. Furthermore, the Group’s 
BOD approved an appropriation of the retained earnings amounting to P3.3 billion for 
capital expenditures for the next 4 years. The Group’s BOD also approved on the 
same date a budget amounting to P16.0 billion for capital expenditures which include 
yard and berth development as well as construction of new facilities and equipment 
acquisition for 2023 to 2026. The capital expenditures will strengthen the Group’s 
operations and capability to handle growth. 
 
On December 31, 2021, the Group’s BOD approved the reversal of the appropriated 
retained earnings amounting to P2.5 billion out of the already approved appropriation 
of P14.0 billion, for capital expenditures for 2021 and 2020. Furthermore, the Group’s 
BOD approved an appropriation of the retained earnings amounting to P3.6 billion for 
capital expenditures for the next 5 years. The Group’s BOD also approved on the 
same date a budget amounting to P17.5 billion for capital expenditures which include 
yard and berth development as well as construction of new facilities and equipment 
acquisition for 2022 to 2026. The capital expenditures will strengthen the Group’s 
operations and capability to handle growth. 
 
Fair Value Reserve 
Fair value reserve amounting to P5.8 million as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 
represents unrealized loss on equity securities.  
 
 

17. Government Share in Revenues 
 
This account consists of the PPA’s share in revenues of the Group as stipulated in 
the agreements discussed in Notes 2 and 23. The PPA’s share in gross revenues 
includes variable government share amounting to P2.7 billion, P2.5 billion and P1.9 
billion in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively (see Note 23). 
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18. Costs and Expenses Excluding Government Share in Revenues 
 
 Note 2023 2022 2021 
Depreciation and 

amortization 10, 11, 23 P1,989,066 P1,908,756 P1,849,725 
Labor costs 21 1,759,712 1,633,131 1,495,219 
Equipment running  850,123 824,520 665,431 
Taxes and licenses  503,507 549,240 419,726 
Facilities-related 

expenses  309,287 270,297 214,414 
Insurance  276,031 213,391 198,358 
Management fees 20 259,221 173,445 133,598 
General transport  212,893 179,283 116,549 
Security, health, 

environment and 
safety  183,346 167,477 152,497 

Marketing, commercial 
and promotion  22,709 10,391 7,015 

Professional fees  21,837 25,410 12,898 
Rental 23 10,851 33,745 13,960 
Entertainment, 

amusement and 
recreation  8,847 10,066 3,453 

Provision for claims 15 48 832 7,172 
Others  221,187 176,428 136,225 
  P6,628,665 P6,176,412 P5,426,240 

 
Labor costs include salaries, benefits and pension expense. 
 
Spare parts and supplies used and included under equipment running amounted to 
P272.6 million, P256.4 million and P249.4 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively.  
 
Provision for spare parts and supplies obsolescence included under other costs and 
expenses amounted to P10.0 million in 2023 and nil in 2022 and 2021.  
 
Rental pertains to short-term leases incurred during the period.  
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19. Other Income and Expenses 
 
Finance income includes interest on cash in banks and short-term investments 
amounting to P189.1 million, P45.5 million and P5.8 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively (see Note 6). 
 
Finance cost is broken down as follows: 
 
 Note 2023 2022 2021 
Interest on port 

concession rights 
payable  P445,150 P468,782 P490,497 

Interest on lease liability 23 43,627 26,737 7,530 
Interest component of 

pension expense 21 11,995 9,777 5,753 
Interest on bank 

loans/credit facilities  2,759 276 288 
  P503,531 P505,572 P504,068 

 
Interest on port concession rights payable pertains to the interest on the unwinding of 
discount of said liability (see related policy on port concession rights in Note 4). 
 
Others consist of the following: 
 
 Note 2023 2022 2021 
Equity in net earnings of 

an associate 9 P38,812 P32,374 P44,782 
Management income 20 7,950 7,557 8,588 
Gain on disposal of 

equipment and 
intangible assets  5,359 6,416 1,232 

Foreign exchange 
(losses) - port 
concession rights 
payable  (66,418) (728,712) (459,448) 

Foreign exchange gains 
(losses) - others  (8,461) 127,889 135,737 

Other income - net  63,086 24,782 14,202 
  P40,328 (P529,694) (P254,907) 

 
Foreign exchange gains (losses) - port concession rights payable resulted from 
revaluation of foreign currency denominated port concession rights payable. 
 
Other income - net recognized in 2023 is mostly comprised of income from the 
reversal of long-outstanding deposits of dormant customers of the Parent Company. 
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20. Related Party Transactions 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, 
to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in 
making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if 
they are subject to common control. Related parties may be individuals or corporate 
entities.   
 
The Group, in the normal course of business, has the following transactions with its 
related parties: 
 

    Outstanding Balance   

Category/ 
Transaction Note Year 

Amount 
of the 

Transaction 

Due from 
Related 
Parties 

Due to  
Related 
Parties 

Lease 
Liability Terms Conditions 

Associate         
▪ Management 

income 
20A 2023 P7,950 P641 P   -     P   -     Payable on 

demand 
Unsecured;  
no impairment 

  2022 7,557 491    -        -     Payable on 
demand 

Unsecured; 
no impairment 

▪ Dividend income 9 2023 28,658 -     -     -     Payable on 
demand 

Unsecured;  
no impairment 

  2022 35,465 -     -     -     Payable on 
demand 

Unsecured; 
no impairment 

Post-Employment 
Benefit Plan 

        

▪ Retirement fund 20B 2023 55,682 24,939 -     -     Payable on 
demand 

Unsecured;  
no impairment 

  2022 35,018 13,902 -     -     Payable on 
demand 

Unsecured; 
no impairment 

Others         
▪ Advances 20D 2023 208,635 81,444 29,677 -     Payable on 

demand 
Unsecured;  
no impairment 

  2022 112,682 5,338 3,997 -     Payable on 
demand 

Unsecured; 
no impairment 

▪ Management 
fees 

20C 2023 259,221 -     17,266 -     Payable  
within ten  
(10 days) of 
the following 
month 

Unsecured 

  2022 173,445 -     19,215 -     Payable  
within ten  
(10) days of  
the following 
month 

Unsecured 

▪ Lease  20E 2023 45,413 -     -     375,639 Payable  
within five  
(5 days) of  
the following 
month 

Unsecured 

  2022 40,993 -     -     396,948 Payable  
within five  
(5 days) of  
the following 
month 

Unsecured 

TOTAL  2023  P107,024 P46,943 P375,639   

TOTAL  2022  P19,731 P23,212 P396,948    

 
A. Amount owed by SCIPSI pertains to management fees equivalent to 6% of gross 

revenue of SCIPSI. 
 
B. The Parent Company and ATIB have separate, noncontributory, defined benefit 

retirement plans covering all its regular employees, in the form of a trust being 
maintained by a trustee bank. Certain payments to retired employees were paid 
directly by the Group to be subsequently paid by the retirement fund. 
 

C. P & O Management Services Phils., Inc. (POMS) is a related party which is 40% 
owned by POAL. POMS engages in advisory services which it provides to the 
Parent Company by virtue of a 5-year contract. The Parent Company’s contract 
with POMS expired in 2020 and was renewed on August 27, 2020 for another 
five years until August 31, 2025. The terms of the contract provide for the 
payment of a monthly fee equivalent to 5% of ATI’s consolidated income before 
income tax of the immediately preceding month (see Note 18). 
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D. Advances include amounts owed to or by DP World Asia Holdings Limited-
Regional Operating Headquarters, DP World Philippines Logistics, Inc., and DP 
World Holdings Philippines, Inc., which are related parties under common 
control, pertaining to reimbursements for expenses paid by or for the Group. The 
balance also includes amounts owed to companies controlled by the Group’s 
director for expenses incurred by the Group for manpower, healthcare and 
insurance services. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, related amounts are 
recorded as Other Payables under Trade and other payables (see Note 14). 

 
E. The Parent Company has entered a 5-year lease contract with a company 

controlled by the Group’s director commencing on May 1, 2019 for a parcel of 
land located at Barangay Lawa, Calamba, Laguna, with a monthly lease rental of 
P40 per square meter, subject to an escalation of 8% beginning May 1, 2021 and 
every 2 years thereafter. The contract terms are based on market rates for this 
type of arrangement and amounts are payable on a monthly basis for the 
duration of the contract. The leased premises shall be used for its off-dock 
container yard and cargo support requirements, including but not limited to 
warehousing and logistics (see Note 23). 

 
The compensation and benefits of key management personnel are as follows: 
 
  2023 2022 
Short-term employee benefits  P134,508 P229,274 
Post-employment benefits  11,187 11,114 
  P145,695 P240,388 

 
The outstanding related party balances are expected to be settled in cash. 
 
 

21. Pensions 
 
The Group’s latest actuarial valuation reports are as at December 31, 2023. 
Valuations are obtained on a periodic basis. The following tables summarize the 
components of pension expense recognized in the consolidated statements of 
income and the funded status and amounts recognized in the consolidated 
statements of financial position for the plans of ATI and ATIB: 
 
Pension Expense 
 

 ATI ATIB TOTAL 

 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021 
Current service cost  P35,418 P40,643 P34,334 P3,775 P5,021 P6,305 P39,193 P45,664 P40,639 
Interest cost on defined 

benefit obligation  37,977 28,824 19,473 3,540 2,840 2,407 41,517 31,664 21,880 
Interest income on plan 

assets (26,370) (19,928) (14,494) (3,152) (1,959) (1,633) (29,522) (21,887) (16,127) 
Net pension expense P47,025 P49,539 P39,313 P4,163 P5,902 P7,079 P51,188 P55,441 P46,392 

 
Current service cost is charged under “Labor cost” account included in “Costs and 
expenses excluding government share in revenues” in the consolidated statements 
of income (see Note 18). Interest cost on defined benefit obligation and interest 
income on plan assets are included in “Finance cost” account in the consolidated 
statements of income (see Note 19). 
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Pension Liability as of December 31 
 

            ATI         ATIB           TOTAL 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 
Present value of 

pension obligations (P666,550) (P575,897) (50,376) (P50,696) (P716,926) (P626,593) 
Fair value of plan 

assets 437,648 378,155 42,499 41,029 480,147 419,184 
Pension liability (P228,902) (P197,742) (P7,877) (P9,667) (P236,779) (P207,409) 

 
Changes in the Present Value of Pension Obligations 
 

            ATI         ATIB           TOTAL 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 
Present value of pension 

obligations at beginning of 
year P575,897 P605,375 P50,696 P54,937 P626,593 P660,312 

Current service cost 35,418 40,643 3,775 5,021 39,193 45,664 
Interest cost 37,977 28,824 3,540 2,840 41,517 31,664 
Benefits paid (51,439) (65,763) (320) (346) (51,759) (66,109) 
Actuarial loss (gain) 68,697 (33,182) (7,315) (11,756) 61,382 (44,938) 
Present value of pension 

obligations at end of year P666,550 P575,897 P50,376 P50,696 P716,926 P626,593 

 
Changes in the Fair Value of Plan Assets 
 

            ATI         ATIB           TOTAL 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 
Fair value of plan assets at 

beginning of year P378,155 P384,731 P41,029 P33,972 P419,184 P418,703 
Interest income 26,370 19,928 3,152 1,959 29,522 21,887 
Actual contributions 75,743 67,046 8,762 7,932 84,505 74,978 
Remeasurement gain on plan 

assets  8,819 (27,787) (10,124) (2,488) (1,305) (30,275) 
Benefits paid (51,439) (65,763) (320) (346) (51,759) (66,109) 
Fair value of plan assets at 

end of year P437,648 P378,155 P42,499 P41,029 P480,147 P419,184 

 
Benefits paid include certain payments to retired employees paid directly by the 
Group to be subsequently reimbursed by the retirement fund. Any amount paid by 
the Group not reimbursed by the retirement fund within the year is recorded under 
“Due from related parties” account included in “Trade and other receivables - net” in 
the consolidated statements of financial position. As at December 31, 2023 and 
2022, the balance due from the retirement fund amounted to P24.9 million and  
P13.9 million, respectively (see Note 20). 
 
The components of retirement benefits recognized in other comprehensive income 
are as follows: 
 

 ATI ATIB TOTAL 

 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021 

Actuarial gain (loss) 
due to:          
Changes in financial 

assumptions (P76,928) P106,392 (P24,382) P6,536 P15,051 P8,798 (P70,392) P121,443 (P15,584) 
Changes in 

demographic 
assumptions -     -     (28,543) -     -     -     -     -     (28,543) 

Experience 
adjustment 8,231 (73,210) 43,292 779 (3,295) 568 9,010 (76,505) 43,860 

Remeasurement gain 
(loss) on plan assets 8,819 (27,787) (6,366) (10,124) (2,488) (494) (1,305) (30,275) (6,860) 

 (P59,878) P5,395 (P15,999) (P2,809) P9,268 P8,872 (62,687) P14,663 (P7,127) 
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The cumulative amount of actuarial gain (loss) recognized in the consolidated 
statements of changes in equity included under “Retained earnings” account 
amounted to (P43.5) million and P19.2 million as at December 31, 2023 and, 2022, 
respectively.   
 
Plan Assets 
The plans entitle a retired regular or full-time employee to receive a lump sum 
amount equivalent to one (1) month salary for every year of credited service. Period 
of service shall be reckoned from date hired to date of retirement, death, permanent 
disability, or severance. 
 
The defined benefit pension plans expose the Group to actuarial risks, such as 
interest rate risk and market (investment) risk. 
 
Contributions will be made at the start of each year based on the funding 
requirements and recommendations indicated in the latest actuarial valuation 
reports.   
 
The Group’s plan assets consist of the following: 
 

            ATI         ATIB           TOTAL 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 
Cash and cash equivalents P73 P62 P131 P149 P204 P211 
Investment in UITF 7,000 3,450 6,253 6,590 13,253 10,040 
Equity instruments  59,531 62,214 5,995 5,904 65,526 68,118 
Investment in government 

securities 342,929 276,893 27,590 25,377 370,519 302,270 
Debt instruments  24,938 30,024 2,165 2,526 27,103 32,550 
Other receivables 4,907 5,723 396 513 5,303 6,236 
Liabilities (1,730) (211) (31) (30) (1,761) (241) 
 P437,648 P378,155 P42,499 P41,029 P480,147 P419,184 

 
All equity instruments and government securities have quoted prices in active 
markets.  
 
All government securities are issued by the Philippine government and are rated 
Baa3 by Moody’s or BBB by Standard & Poor’s. 
 
The principal assumptions used in determining pension benefit obligations for the 
Group’s plans are shown below: 
 
         ATI         ATIB 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 
Discount rate at end of year 6.14% 7.26% 6.16% 7.34% 
Salary increase rate 5.0%-6.0% 3.5%-6.0% 5.0%-6.0% 3.5%-6.0% 

 
Assumptions for mortality rate are based on the 2017 Philippine Intercompany 
Mortality Table. 
 
The weighted average duration of defined benefit obligation is as follows: 
 
         ATI         ATIB 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 
Average expected future 
service years 14 14 17 17 
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Maturity analysis of the benefit payments: 
 
           2023 

 Expected Benefit Payments 

 ATI ATIB 

Within 1 year P89,865 P4,799 
Within 1 - 5 years 260,163 14,780 
More than 5 years 3,317,728 441,274 

 
           2022 
 Expected Benefit Payments 
 ATI ATIB 
Within 1 year P89,194 P4,595 
Within 1 - 5 years 220,046 15,049 
More than 5 years 3,018,605 565,466 

 
Sensitivity Analysis 
As of December 31, the reasonably possible changes to the relevant actuarial 
assumptions holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined 
benefit obligation by the amounts below: 
 
2023 

     ATI    ATIB 

 1% Increase 1% Decrease 1% Increase 1% Decrease 

Discount rate (P51,060) P60,077 (P5,022) P6,092 
Salary increase rate 62,603 (54,142) 6,265 (5,249) 

 
2022 

     ATI    ATIB 
 1% Increase 1% Decrease 1% Increase 1% Decrease 
Discount rate (P39,931) P46,405 (P5,087) P6,131 
Salary increase rate 49,207 43,028 6,392 5,381 

 
The Group expects to pay P69.4 million in contributions to defined benefit pension 
plans in 2024. 
 
Asset Liability Matching (ALM) 
The Group does not perform any ALM study. The overall investment policy and 
strategy of the retirement plan is based on the client suitability assessment, as 
provided by its trust bank, in compliance with the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 
requirements. 
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22. Earnings Per Share (EPS) Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent Company 
 
Basic EPS is computed as follows: 
 
 2023 2022 2020 
(a) Net income attributable to 

Equity Holders of the 
Parent Company  
(in thousands) P4,435,986 P3,024,811 P2,236,720 

(b) Weighted average number 
of common shares 
outstanding (in thousands) 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 

Basic/diluted EPS attributable 
to Equity Holders of the 
Parent Company (a/b) P2.22 P1.51 P1.12 

 
The Parent Company does not have potential common shares or other instruments 
that may entitle the holder to common shares. Hence, diluted EPS is the same as 
basic EPS. 
 
 

23. Commitments and Contingencies 
 
Agreements within the Scope of Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 12, Service 

Concession Arrangements 
 
a. The Parent Company is authorized by the PPA to render cargo handling services 

at the South Harbor until May 2013. On October 19, 2007, the cargo handling 
services contract was extended until May 2038 under the terms mutually agreed 
upon with the PPA (see Note 2). 
 
i. In accordance with the Investment Plan which was revised in December 

2014 pursuant to the Third Supplement to the Cargo Handling Contract, the 
Parent Company has committed to invest USD385.7 million from 2010 to 
2028, for the rehabilitation, development and expansion of the South Harbor 
facilities. The commitment is dependent on container volume. The 
Investment Plan is subject to joint review every two (2) years, or as often as 
necessary as mutually agreed, to ensure that the same conforms to actual 
growth levels, taking into account introduction of new technologies and 
allowing the Parent Company the opportunity of a fair return on investment. 
 
In 2020, the reclamation of the Engineering Island Basin, which is part of the 
South Harbor, was subject to jurisdictional dispute between the PPA and the 
Philippine Reclamation Authority. As of date of this report, the opinion of the 
Department of Justice (DOJ) on the matter is still pending. It is the opinion of 
the Group that any opinion rendered by the DOJ will not have any material 
impact on the Group’s ability to use the subject reclaimed land. 
 

ii. Government Share 
 
- For storage operations, the Parent Company shall pay an annual fixed 

government share of P55.0 million payable quarterly and a government 
share of 30% of its annual gross storage revenue in excess of  
P273.0 million.  
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- For international containerized cargo operations, the Parent Company 
shall pay quarterly fixed government share of USD2.25 million plus a 
variable government share amounting to 20% of its total gross revenues. 

 
- For general cargo operations, the Parent Company shall remit 

government share amounting to 20% of its total gross revenues collected 
from arrastre services and 14% of its total gross revenues collected from 
stevedoring services for general cargoes. 

 
- For domestic terminal operations, the Parent Company shall remit 

government share amounting to 10% of its total gross revenues derived 
from its domestic cargo handling and passenger terminal operations. 

 
b. The Parent Company is authorized by the PPA to render cargo handling services 

at the Container Terminal “A-1,” Phase 2 at the Port of Batangas for 25 years 
starting July 1, 2010. For arrastre operations, the Parent Company shall pay an 
annual fixed government share of USD2.26 million for the first 2 years,  
USD4.68 million for the 3rd year, USD5.08 million for the 4th-7th year, and  
USD5.33 million for the 8th-25th year. The Parent Company shall also remit 
annual variable government share based on committed yearly percentage share 
multiplied by whichever is higher of the projected gross income in the bid 
proposal or actual gross income. 
 

c. The Parent Company and ATIB are authorized by the PPA to render cargo 
handling and passenger services, supply base operations, porterage services, 
berth management, parking services, passenger terminal retail outlets, 
weighbridge or weighing operations, water supply services, vehicle booking 
system, security services, and leasing/sub-leasing of areas and facilities in the 
Port of Batangas Phase 1 from October 1, 2015 until September 30, 2025. For 
these operations, Parent Company and ATIB shall pay a fixed government share 
amount of P112.7 million for the first 3 years, which shall escalate by 5% and 4% 
on the 4th and 5th years and 3% for the remaining 5 years. In addition, Parent 
Company and ATIB shall remit annual volume-triggered government share of 
10% and 20% for domestic cargoes and passenger terminal fees and for foreign 
cargoes, respectively, once defined threshold volumes are met. On  
December 18, 2019, the term of the contract was extended until June 30, 2035. 
The same percentage for the annual volume-triggered government share shall 
be remitted by Parent Company and ATIB for the extended term and the 
applicable escalation rate is still 3%. In consideration for the extension of the 
term from 2025 to 2035, Parent Company and ATIB paid to the PPA a lump-sum 
fee of P200 million in December 2019. 

 
d. A lump-sum fee of P400 million was paid to the PPA in December 2019 as 

advance consideration in the event of renewal of the contracts for Port of 
Batangas Phase 1 and Container Terminal “A-1,” Phase 2 beyond year 2035. 
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Upon recognition of the fair value of the fixed fees representing the government 
share under the concession agreements as discussed above, the Group also 
recognized the corresponding port concession rights payable. The movements in 
the port concession rights payable are as follows: 
 
 2023 2022 
Balance as at January 1 P7,933,311 P7,702,171 
Accretion of port concession rights payable 622,316 463,180 
Payments during the year (972,915) (799,238) 
Effects of exchange rate changes (116,107) 567,198 
Balance as at December 31 P7,466,605 P7,933,311 

 
Agreements outside the Scope of Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 12, Service 

Concession Arrangements 
 
a. The Parent Company has a 5-year lease agreement with PPA effective  

April 3, 2017 covering a land adjacent to the Container Freight Station (CFS) 
area of the Container Terminal “A-1” with a monthly lease rental of P1.7 million, 
subject to a yearly escalation of 5%.  

 
b. The Parent Company has a 25-year lease agreement until April 2021 covering 

the land in Calamba, Laguna to be used exclusively as an Inland Container 
Depot for which the Parent Company pays an annual rental of P0.1 million, 
subject to an escalation of 7% once every two years.  
 
The contract was revised in 2004, changing the monthly rate to P0.5 million in 
January 1, 2002 to December 31, 2003 and P0.7 million in January 1, 2004 to 
December 31, 2005, subject to an escalation of 8% every 2 years starting  
January 1, 2006. The monthly rates amounted to P1.3 million in 2023, 2022 and 
2021.  
 

c. The Parent Company has a 5-year lease contract commencing on  
February 1, 2017 over two parcels of land located in Sta. Mesa, City of Manila 
with a monthly lease rental of P0.6 million, subject to an escalation of 7% once 
every two years. This land is being exclusively used as an off-dock container 
depot. 
 
In 2022, the lease contract was renewed for another period of five (5) years 
commencing on February 1, 2022 until January 1, 2027 with the same terms and 
conditions as the original lease contract.   

 
d. The Parent Company has entered a 25-year lease contract commencing on 

February 15, 2018 for a parcel of land located at barangay Calibuyo, Tanza, 
Cavite, with a monthly lease rental of P35 per square meter, subject to an 
escalation of 5% beginning February 15, 2020 and every 2 years thereafter. The 
lease premises shall be used exclusively as a port terminal, inland clearance 
depot, warehouse, and for other activities related or ancillary thereto. 
 
Majority of the Group’s leased properties pertain to land. The leases typically run 
for a period of 1-25 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date.  
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Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented below. 
 
i. Right-of-Use Assets  

 
Right-of-use assets related to leased properties whose lease terms are more 
than 12 months. 
 
 Note 2023 2022 
Balance at January 1  P775,248 P458,999 
Additions to right-of-use assets  152,000 535,631 
Amortization during the year 18 (201,037) (219,382) 
Balance at December 31  P726,211 P775,248 

 
ii. Lease Liabilities 

 
 Note 2023 2022 
Balance at January 1  P765,092 P452,637 
Additions to lease liabilities  152,000 535,631 
Interest expense during the year 19 43,627 26,737 
Payments made  (235,915) (249,913) 
Balance at December 31  P724,804 P765,092 

 
As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group has current and noncurrent 
lease liabilities included in the consolidated statements of financial position 
as follows: 
 
  2023 2022 
Current  P46,615 P118,066 
Noncurrent  678,189 647,026 
  P724,804 P765,092 

 
The maturity analysis of undiscounted lease payments as of  
December 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 
 
  2023 2022 
Within one year  P74,038 P107,873 
More than one year to five years  256,610 238,398 
More than five years  901,973 988,724 
  P1,232,621 P1,334,995 

 
iii. Amounts Recognized in Profit or Loss 

 
 Note 2023 2022 
Depreciation expense 18 P201,037 P219,382 
Interest on lease liabilities 19 43,627 26,737 
Expenses relating to short-term 

and/or low value leases 18 10,851 33,745 
Total  P255,515 P279,864 
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iv. Amounts Recognized in Statements of Cash Flows 
 
  2023 2022 
Payments of lease liabilities  P192,288 P223,176 
Interest paid  43,627 26,737 
Cash outflow relating to short-term 

and/or low value leases  10,960 33,745 
Total cash outflow for leases  P246,875 P283,658 

 
e. The Group has contingent liabilities for lawsuits and various other matters 

occurring in the ordinary course of business. On the basis of information 
furnished by its legal counsel, management believes that none of these 
contingencies will materially affect the Group’s financial position and financial 
performance. 
 
 

24. Financial Risk and Capital Management Objectives and Policies 
 
The Group has various financial assets and liabilities such as cash and cash 
equivalents, trade and other receivables, deposits, equity securities, trade and other 
payables, port concession rights payable and lease liabilities which arise directly 
from its operations. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise 
financing for the Group’s capital expenditures and operations.   
 
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, 
liquidity risk, credit risk and foreign currency risk. The BOD reviews and agrees on 
policies for managing each of these risks.  
 
Interest Rate Risk 
The Group’s interest rate risk management policy centers on reducing the Group’s 
overall interest expense and exposure to changes in interest rates. Changes in 
market interest rates relate primarily to the Group’s cash in banks and cash 
equivalents. 
 
As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, the interest rate profile of the Group’s  
interest- bearing financial instrument is as follows: 
 
 2023 2022 
Fixed Rate Instruments   
Cash and cash equivalents* P5,422,997 P4,597,576 

*Excluding cash on hand amounting to P1.9 million and P2.7 million as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 

 
Fair Value Sensitivity Analysis for Fixed Rate Instruments 
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss, therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date 
would not affect profit or loss. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
The Group monitors its risk of shortage of funds using a liquidity planning tool. This 
tool considers the maturity of both the Group’s financial investments and financial 
assets and projected cash flows from operations, among others. The Group’s 
objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through 
the use of bank loans. 
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The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities 
based on contractual undiscounted payments: 
 

  Contractual Cash Flows 

As at  
December 31, 2023 

Carrying 
Amount 

On 
Demand 

Less than 
3 Months 

3 to 12 
Months 

1 to 5 
Years > 5 Years Total 

Trade and other 
payables* P1,966,847 P274,952 P366,187 P1,325,708 P   -     P   -     P1,966,847 

Port concession rights 
payable 7,466,605 -     200,127 600,380 2,783,366 6,258,786 9,842,659 

Lease liabilities 724,804 -     27,841 46,197 256,610 901,973 1,232,621 

 P10,158,256 P274,952 P594,155 P1,972,285 P3,039,976 P7,160,759 P13,042,127 

*Excluding due to government agencies amounting to P967.6 million as at December 31, 2023. 

 
  Contractual Cash Flows 
As at  

December 31, 2022 
Carrying 
Amount 

On 
Demand 

Less than 
3 Months 

3 to 12 
Months 

1 to 5 
Years > 5 Years Total 

Trade and other 
payables* P2,353,591 P283,721 P591,277 P1,478,593 P   -     P   -     P2,353,591 

Port concession rights 
payable 7,933,311 -     201,145 603,435 2,922,920 6,258,786 9,986,286 

Lease liabilities 765,092 -     26,332 81,541 238,398 988,724 1,334,995 
 P11,051,994 P283,721 P818,754 P2,163,569 P3,161,318 P7,247,510 P13,674,872 

*Excluding due to government agencies amounting to P939.0 million as at December 31, 2022. 

 
Credit Risk  
Credit risk on trade and other receivables represents the risk of loss the Group would 
incur if credit customers and counterparties fail to perform their contractual 
obligations.  
 
The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy third parties. It is the 
Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to 
credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an 
ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not 
significant. A regular/annual review and evaluation of accounts is being implemented 
to assess the credit standing of customers.   
 
The Group does not require collateral in respect of trade and other receivables. The 
Group does not have trade and other receivables for which no loss allowance is 
recognized because of collateral. The carrying amounts of trade and other 
receivables represent the maximum credit exposure. 
 
With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which 
comprise cash in bank and cash equivalents, deposits and FVOCI - equity, the 
Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a 
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. The Group 
trades only with reputable banks and recognized third parties. 
 
Exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit checks are being 
performed on all clients requesting credit over certain amounts. Credit is not 
extended beyond authorized limits, established where appropriate through 
consultation with a professional credit vetting organization. Credit granted is subject 
to regular review, to ensure it remains consistent with the clients’ current credit 
worthiness and appropriate to the anticipated volume of business. 
 
Financial information on the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk as at 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, without considering the effects of collaterals and other 
risk mitigation techniques, is presented below 
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 Note 2023 2022 
Cash and cash equivalents* 6 P5,422,997 P4,597,576 
Trade and other receivables - net 7 830,653 905,985 
Deposits 12 70,899 84,107 
Equity securities 12 2,652 2,652 
  P6,327,201 P5,590,320 

*Excluding cash on hand amounting to P1.9 million and P2.7 million as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 

 
The table below shows the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets based on 
their historical experience with the corresponding debtor. 
 
 As at December 31, 2023 

 Grade A Grade B Grade C Total 

Cash in banks and 
cash equivalents P5,422,997 P   -     P   -     P5,422,997 

Trade and other 
receivables - net 514,775 315,878 -     830,653 

Deposits 70,899 -     -     70,899 
Equity securities 2,652 -     -     2,652 

 P6,011,323 P315,878 P   -     P6,327,201 

 
 As at December 31, 2022 
 Grade A Grade B Grade C Total 
Cash in banks and 

cash equivalents P4,597,576 P   -     P   -     P4,597,576 
Trade and other 

receivables - net 561,460 344,525 -     905,985 
Deposits 84,107 -     -     84,107 
Equity securities 2,652 -     -     2,652 
 P5,245,795 P344,525 P   -     P5,590,320 

 
Grade A receivables pertain to those receivables from customers that always pay on 
time or even before the maturity date. Grade B includes receivables that are 
collected on their due dates provided that they were reminded or followed up by the 
Group. Those receivables which are collected consistently beyond their due dates 
and require persistent effort from the Group are included under Grade C. 
 
Cash in banks is considered good quality (Grade A) as this pertains to deposits in 
reputable banks. 
 
Trade and Other Receivables  
The exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables by industry is as follows: 
 
 Note 2023 2022 
Shipping lines  P364,899 P397,992 
Others  465,754 507,993 
 7 P830,653 P905,985 
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Expected Credit Loss Assessment 
The Group allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based on data that is 
determined to be predictive of the risk of loss (including but not limited to external 
ratings, audited financial statements, management accounts and cash flow 
projections and available press information about customers) and applying expected 
credit judgment. Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative 
factors that are indicative of the risk of default. 
 
Exposures within each credit risk grade are segmented by industry classification and 
an ECL rate is calculated for each segment based on delinquency and actual credit 
loss experience. 
 
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade 
and other receivables as at December 31, 2023 and 2022: 
 

 

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount 

Impairment 
Loss 

Allowance 
Credit-

Impaired 

Current (not past due) P714,489 P   -     No 
1 - 30 days past due 47,954 -     No 
31 - 60 days past due  19,413 -     No 
61 - 90 days past due 34,586 -     No 
More than 90 days past due 18,406 4,195 Yes 

Balance at December 31, 2023 P834,848 P4,195  

 

 

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount 

Impairment 
Loss 

Allowance 
Credit-

Impaired 
Current (not past due) P807,887 P   -     No 
1 - 30 days past due 31,836 -     No 
31 - 60 days past due  17,070 -     No 
61 - 90 days past due 23,598 -     No 
More than 90 days past due 29,789 4,195 Yes 
Balance at December 31, 2022 P910,180 P4,195  

 
Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience over three years considering 
circumstances at the reporting date. Any adjustment to the loss rates for forecasts of 
future economic conditions are not expected to be material. The Group applies the 
simplified approach in providing for expected credit losses prescribed by PFRS 9, 
which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision and applies a provision 
matrix. The application of the expected loss rates to the receivables of the Group 
does not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
The maturity of the Group’s trade and other receivables is less than one year so the 
lifetime expected credit losses and the 12-month expected credit losses are similar. 
 
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group. Of the total 
trade and other receivables which are neither past due nor impaired, 100% are of 
high-grade quality instruments because there was no history of default on the agreed 
terms of the contract. 
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Movement in the Allowance for Impairment in Respect of Trade and Other 
Receivables 

There was no movement in the allowance for impairment on trade and other 
receivables from 2020 as no reversals and write-offs were made since 2021. The 
allowance for impairment as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 is P4.2 million with 
individually and collectively impaired receivables amounting to P1.1 million and  
P3.1 million, respectively. 
 

 2020 
Individually 

Impaired 
Collectively 

Impaired 
Balance at January 1 P6,979 P1,173 P5,806 
Reversals during the year (2,700) -     (2,700) 
Write-offs (84) (84) -     
Balance at December 31 P4,195 P1,089 P3,106 

 
Cash in Banks and Cash Equivalents 
The Group held cash in banks and cash equivalents of P5.4 billion and P4.6 billion 
as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The cash and cash equivalents are 
held with bank and financial institution counterparties, which are rated Grade A. 
 
Impairment on cash in banks and cash equivalents has been measured on a  
12-month expected loss basis and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The 
Group considers that its cash in bank and cash equivalents have low credit risk 
based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties and any ECL is expected to 
be immaterial. 
 
Foreign Currency Risk 
The Group has foreign currency financial assets and liabilities arising from USD 
denominated revenues, government share, and other foreign currency-denominated 
purchases by operating units. 
 
The Group’s foreign currency-denominated accounts as at December 31 are as 
follows: 
 
 2023 2022 
Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents USD19,007 USD18,757 
Liabilities   
Trade and other payables 2,378 63,033 
Port concession rights payable 120,527 125,605 
 122,905 188,638 

Net foreign currency-denominated liabilities (USD103,898) (USD169,881) 

Peso equivalent (P5,755,949) (P9,479,360) 
 
The exchange rates applicable for USD as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 are 
P55.4 and P55.8, respectively. 
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in 
the USD exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s income 
before income tax and equity. 
 

Increase (Decrease) in  
USD Exchange Rate 

Effect on 
Income before 

Income Tax 
Effect on 

Equity 

2023   
+5% (P287,797) (P215,848) 
-5% 287,797 215,848 

2022   
+5% (473,968) (355,476) 
-5% 473,968 355,476 

 
Capital Management 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it 
maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its 
business and maximize shareholder value. 
 
The Group considers capital to include capital stock, additional paid-in capital, 
retained earnings, and fair value reserve. The Group manages its capital structure 
and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain 
or adjust its capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were 
made in the objectives, policies or processes from prior year. 
 
The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements, except for the 
investment it has committed in accordance with the investment plan discussed in  
Note 23. 
 
The table below shows the capital structure of the Group as at December 31: 
 
 Note 2023 2022 
Capital stock  P2,000,000 P2,000,000 
Additional paid-in capital  264,300 264,300 
Retained earnings  22,276,607 19,887,619 
Fair value reserve  (5,820) (5,820) 
Total 16 P24,535,087 P22,146,099 
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25. Financial Instruments 
 
The table below presents a comparison by category of carrying amounts and 
estimated fair values of all the Group’s financial instruments as at  
December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
 

           2023           2022 

 Note 
Carrying 
Amount 

Fair 
Value 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair 
Value 

Financial Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 6 P5,424,938 P5,424,938 P4,600,267 P4,600,267 
Trade and other receivables - net 7 830,653 830,653 905,985 905,985 
Deposits 12 70,899 77,068 84,107 90,199 
  6,326,490 6,332,659 5,590,359 5,596,451 
Equity securities  12 2,652 2,652 2,652 2,652 
  P6,329,142 P6,335,311 P5,593,011 P5,599,103 

Financial Liabilities      
Other financial liabilities:      
Trade and other payables* 14 P1,966,847 P1,966,847 P2,353,591 P2,353,591 
Port concession rights payable  7,466,605 8,187,761 7,933,311 8,189,861 
  P9,433,452 P10,154,608 P10,286,902 P10,543,452 

*Excluding due to government agencies amounting to P967.6 million and P939.0 million as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 

 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade 
and other payables are approximately equal to their carrying amounts due to their 
relatively short-term nature.  
 
Nonderivative Financial Instruments 
Quoted market prices have been used to determine the fair values of listed equity 
securities. The fair values of unquoted equity securities are not reliably determinable. 
 
For noninterest-bearing deposits, the fair value is estimated as the present value of 
all future cash flows discounted using the prevailing market rate on interest for a 
similar instrument. The discount rates used are 5.8% in 2023 and 6.0% in 2022 (see  
Note 12). 
 
The fair value of port concession rights payable was estimated at the present value 
of all future cash flows discounted using the applicable rates for similar types of 
loans ranging from 5.97% to 6.01% in 2023 and 6.19% to 7.23% in 2022. 
 
Fair Value Hierarchy 
The table below presents the fair value hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: 
 
As at December 31, 2023 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Equity securities 12 P933 P   -     P1,719 
Port concession rights 

payable  -    8,187,761 -     

  P933 P8,187,761 P1,719 

 
As at December 31, 2022 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Equity securities 12 P933 P   -     P1,719 
Port concession rights 

payable  -    8,189,861 -     
  P933 P8,189,861 P1,719 
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There have been no transfers from one level to another in 2023 and 2022. 
 
 

26. Revenues from Operations 
 
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of services in the following major 
service lines: 
 
 2023 2021 2021 
Revenues from Operations    
Stevedoring P6,587,928 P5,862,108 P4,775,548 
Arrastre 5,960,647 5,532,700 4,587,974 
Logistics 160,055 188,913 106,907 
Special and other services 2,743,170 2,038,983 1,692,315 
 P15,451,800 P13,622,704 P11,162,744 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS  
ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 
 
The Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Asian Terminals, Inc. and its Subsidiaries 
A. Bonifacio Drive 
Port Area, Manila 
 
We have audited in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements of Asian Terminals Inc.  
(the “Company”) and its Subsidiaries (collectively known as the “Group”) as at 
December 31, 2023 and 2022 and for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2023, included in this Form 17-A, and have issued our report thereon 
dated March 12, 2024.  
 
Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group taken as a whole. The supplementary information 
included in the following accompanying additional components is the responsibility of the 
Group’s management.  
 

▪ Map of the Conglomerate 
▪ Supplementary Schedules of Annex 68-J 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

This supplementary information is presented for purposes of complying with the Revised 
Securities Regulation Code Rule 68, and is not a required part of the consolidated 
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly 
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated financial statements taken 
as a whole. 
 
 
R.G. MANABAT & CO. 
 

VERNILO G. YU 
Partner 
CPA License No. 1  
Tax Identification No.  
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001987-035-2021 
  Issued June 29, 2021; valid until June 28, 2024 
PTR No. MKT 10075209 
  Issued January 2, 2024 at Makati City 
 
 
March 12, 2024 
Makati City, Metro Manila 
 



 

1 

Schedule A 

ASIAN TERMINALS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
Financial Assets 

December 31, 2023 
(in thousands) 

             

Financial Assets 

Name of Issuing 
 Entity and 

Association of 
Each Issue 

Number of Shares 
 or Principal 

Amount of Bonds 
and Notes 

Amount 
Shown 

in the Balance 
Sheet 

Valued Based on 
 Market Quotation 

at End of 
Reporting Period 

Income 
Received and 

Accrued 

Cash and cash equivalents N/A N/A P5,424,938 P5,424,938 P189,142 
Trade and other receivables - net N/A N/A 830,653 830,653 -     
Deposits N/A N/A 70,899 77,068 -     
Equity Securities:      

Quoted Equity Shares  N/A 933 933 -     
Unquoted Equity Shares  N/A 1,719 1,719 -     

   P6,329,142 P6,335,311 P189,142 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

2 

Schedule B 

ASIAN TERMINALS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related Parties and Principal Stockholders 

(Other than Related Parties) 
December 31, 2023 

(in thousands) 

           

Name and Designation of 
Debtor 

Balance at 
Beginning  

of Period Additions 
Amounts 
Collected 

Amounts 
Written-off Current Non-current 

Balance at 
End of 
Period 

Officers P28,020 P25,424 (P30,658) P   -     P   -     P   -     P22,786 
Related Parties 5,829 258,061 (181,805) -     -     -     82,085 
 P33,849 P283,485 (P212,463) P   -     P   -     P   -     P104,871 
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Schedule C 

ASIAN TERMINALS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
Amounts Receivable from (Payable to) Related Parties which are Eliminated during the  

Consolidation of Financial Statements 
December 31, 2023 

(in thousands) 

      

Name and Designation of 
Debtor 

Balance at 
Beginning  

of Period Additions Amounts Paid 
Amounts 

 Written-off Current Non-current 

Balance at 
End of 
Period 

ATI Batangas, Inc. P242,053 P891,070 (P806,506) P   -     P   -     P   -     P326,617 
Tanza Container Terminal, 

Inc. 1,861,994 207,632 -     -     -     -     2,069,626 
 P2,104,047 P1,098,702 (P806,506) P   -     P   -     P   -     P2,396,243 
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Schedule D 

ASIAN TERMINALS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
Long-term Debt 

December 31, 2023 
(in thousands) 

          

Title of Issue and type of obligation 

Amount 
Authorized by 

Indenture 

Amount Shown under 
Caption "Current Portion  

of Long-term Debt" in  
Related Balance Sheet 

Amount Shown 
under caption 

"Long-Term Debt" in 
Related Balance Sheet 

    
    

Not Applicable 
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Schedule E 

ASIAN TERMINALS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
Indebtedness to Related Parties 

December 31, 2023 
(in thousands) 

           

Name of Issuing Entity and Association of Each Issue 
Amount Shown in the 

Balance Sheet 
Valued Based on Market Quotation 

 at End of Reporting Period 

     
     

Not Applicable 
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Schedule F 

ASIAN TERMINALS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers 

December 31, 2023 
(in thousands) 

            

Name of Issuing Entity of Securities 
Guaranteed by the Company for 
which this Statement is Filed 

Title of Issue of 
 Each Class of 

Securities 
Guaranteed 

Total Amount 
Guaranteed and 

Outstanding 

Amount Owned by 
Person for which 

Statement is Filed Nature of Guarantee 

     
     

Not Applicable 
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Schedule G 

ASIAN TERMINALS, INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
Capital Stock 

December 31, 2023 
(in thousands) 

              

   Number of Number of Shares Held by 

Title of Issue 

Number of 
Shares 

Authorized 

Number of 
Shares Issued 

and Outstanding  

Shares Reserved 
for Options, 

Warrants, 
Conversion and 

Other Rights Related Parties 

Directors, 
Officers, and 

Employees Others 

Common shares 4,000,000 2,000,000 None 637,838 1,035,257 326,905 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 
 
The Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Asian Terminals, Inc. 
A. Bonifacio Drive 
Port Area, Manila 
 
We have audited in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the separate 
financial statements of Asian Terminals, Inc. (the “Company”), as at December 31, 2023 
and 2022 and for the years then ended, and have issued our report thereon dated  
March 12, 2024. 
 
Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic separate 
financial statements of the Company taken as a whole. The supplementary information 
included in Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration is the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

This supplementary information is presented for purposes of complying with the Revised 
Securities Regulation Code (SRC) Rule 68, and is not a required part of the basic 
separate financial statements. Such supplementary information has been subjected to 
the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic separate financial statements 
and, in our opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic 
separate financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
 
R.G. MANABAT & CO. 
 
 
 
 
VERNILO G. YU 
Partner 
CPA License No.  
Tax Identification No.  
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001987-035-2021 
  Issued June 29, 2021; valid until June 28, 2024 
PTR No. MKT 10075209 
  Issued January 2, 2024 at Makati City 
 
 
March 12, 2024 
Makati City, Metro Manila 
 
 



Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration 
For the reporting period ended December 31, 2023 

(In thousands) 
 

Asian Terminals, Inc. 
A. Bonifacio Drive, Port Area, Manila 

  

Unappropriated Retained Earnings, beginning of 
reporting period  P1,994,606 

Add: Items that are directly credited to 
Unappropriated Retained Earnings   

Reversal of Retained Earnings Appropriation/s P2,400,000  
Effects of restatements or prior-period 

adjustments -     2,400,000 

Less: Items that are directly debited to 
Unappropriated Retained Earnings   

Dividend declaration during the reporting period (2,000,000)  
Retained Earnings appropriated during the 

reporting period (5,000,000)  
Effect of restatements or prior-period 

adjustments -     (7,000,000) 
Unappropriated Retained Earnings, as adjusted  (2,605,394) 

Add/Less: Net Income (loss) for the current year  4,388,108 

Less: Unrealized income recognized in the profit or 
loss during the reporting period (net of tax)   

Equity in net loss (income) of associate/joint 
venture, net of dividends declared -      

Unrealized foreign exchange gain, except those 
attributable to cash and cash equivalents (116,108)  

Unrealized fair value adjustment (mark-to-market 
gains) of financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL) -      

Unrealized fair value gain of Investment Property -      
Other unrealized gains or adjustments to the 

retained earnings as a result of certain 
transactions accounted for under the PFRS -      

Subtotal  (116,108) 

Add: Unrealized income recognized in the profit or 
loss in prior reporting periods but realized in the 
current reporting period (net of tax)   

Realized foreign exchange gain, except those 
attributable to Cash and cash equivalents 156,040  

Realized fair value adjustment (mark-to-market 
gains) of financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL) -      

Realized fair value gain of Investment Property -      
Other realized gains or adjustments to the 

retained earnings as a result of certain 
transactions accounted for under the PFRS -      

Subtotal  156,040 

Forward   



 

  

Adjusted Net Income/Loss  P4,428,040 

Add/Less: Category F: Other items that should be 
excluded from the determination of the amount of 
available for dividends distribution   

Net movement of treasury shares (except for 
reacquisition of redeemable shares) -      

Net movement of deferred tax asset not 
considered in the reconciling items under the 
previous categories (7,745)  

Net movement in deferred tax asset and deferred 
tax liabilities related to same transaction, e.g., 
set up of right of use of asset and lease liability, 
set-up of asset and asset retirement obligation, 
and set-up of service concession asset and 
concession payable (10,523)  

Adjustment due to deviation from PFRS/GAAP - 
gain (loss) -      

Actuarial valuation loss - net of tax 44,909  

Subtotal  26,641 

Total Retained Earnings, end of the reporting 
period available for dividend  P1,849,287 

 



ASIAN TERMINALS, INC. 
SUBSIDIARIES AND AN ASSOCIATE 

DECEMBER 31, 2023 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ASIAN 

TERMINALS, INC. 
(Parent) 

 

 
ATI Batangas, Inc. 

(99.17%) 
 

South Cotabato 
Integrated Port 
Services, Inc. 

(35.71%) 
 

Tanza Container 
Terminal, Inc. 

(TCTI) 
(100%) 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS ON 
COMPONENTS OF FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS 
 
 
 
The Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Asian Terminals, Inc. 
A. Bonifacio Drive 
Port Area, Manila 
 
We have audited, in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the consolidated 
financial statements of Asian Terminals, Inc. (the “Company”) and its Subsidiaries 
(collectively known as the “Group”) as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 and for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and have issued our report 
thereon dated March 12, 2024.  
 
Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic consolidated 
financial statements taken as a whole. The Supplementary Schedule on Financial 
Soundness Indicators, including their definitions, formulas, calculation, and their 
appropriateness or usefulness to the intended users, are the responsibility of the 
Company’s management. These financial soundness indicators are not measures of 
operating performance defined by Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs) 
and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

This schedule is presented for the purpose of complying with the Revised Securities 
Regulation Code (SRC) Rule 68 issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission, 
and is not a required part of the basic consolidated financial statements prepared in 
accordance with PFRSs. The components of these financial soundness indicators have 
been traced to the Group’s consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2023 
and 2022 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023 and 
no material exceptions were noted. 
 
 
R.G. MANABAT & CO. 
 
 

 
VERNILO G. YU 
Partner 
CPA License No.  
Tax Identification No.  
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001987-035-2021 
  Issued June 29, 2021; valid until June 28, 2024 
PTR No. MKT 10075209 
  Issued January 2, 2024 at Makati City 
 
 
March 12, 2024 
Makati City, Metro Manila 



ASIAN TERMINALS INC. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023, 2022 AND 2021 

Consolidated KPI 
Manner of 

Calculation 2023 2022 2021 Discussion 

Return on Capital 
Employed* 

Percentage of 
income before 
interest and tax 
over capital 
employed 

18.9% 16.3% 13.2% 

Increased due to 
higher income 
before interest and 
taxes during the 
period. 

Return on Equity 
attributable to 
equity holders of 
the parent 

Percentage of net 
income over 
equity attributable 
to equity holders 
of the parent 

19.0% 14.1% 11.0% Improved due to 
higher net income. 

Current ratio 
Ratio of current 
assets over 
current liabilities 

2.81 : 1.00 2.21 : 1.00 2.59 : 1.00 
Increased due to 
higher current 
assets. 

Asset to equity 
ratio 

Ratio of total 
assets over equity 
attributable to 
equity holders of 
the parent 

1.47 : 1.00 1.56 : 1.00 1.53 : 1.00 
Decreased due to 
higher increase in 
equity. 

Debt to equity ratio 

Ratio of total 
liabilities over 
equity attributable 
to equity holders 
of the parent 

0.47 : 1.00 0.56 : 1.00 0.53 : 1.00 
Decreased due to 
lower liabilities and 
higher equity. 

Days Sales in 
Receivables (DSR) 

Gross trade 
receivables over 
revenues 
multiplied by 
number of days 

10 days 11 days 9 days 
Decreased due to 
improved 
collections. 

Net Income Margin 

Net income over 
revenues less 
government share 
in revenues 

34.7% 27.1% 24.3% 
Increased due to 
higher net income 
growth. 

Reportable Injury 
Frequency Rate 
(RIFR) 

Number of 
reportable injuries 
within a given 
accounting period 
relative to the 
total number of 
hours worked in 
the same 
accounting 
period. 

0.87 0.52 0.56 

Increased due to a 
higher number of 
injuries. 

*Income before interest and tax excludes also net unrealized foreign exchange losses and others.

RIFR is the new KPI for injuries introduced in 2014 to replace LTIFR. RIFR is a more stringent KPI as it covers not only 
Lost Time Injuries (LTIs) but also Medical Treatment Injuries (MTIs) and Fatalities incidents. 
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